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H.H. SKEIKH TAMIM BIN HAMAD AL-THANI
THE EMIR OF THE STATE OF QATAR

H.H. SHEIKH HAMAD BIN KHALIFA AL-THANI
THE FATHER OF THE EMIR OF THE STATE OF QATAR
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BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

Salah Bin Ghanem Bin Nasser Al Ali

Chairman of the Board of Directors
 

H.E. Mr. Salah Bin Ghanem Bin Nasser Al Ali is Qatar’s 
Minister of Youth and Sports. Before being named 
minister on June 27th, 2013, his excellency served in 
various posts. In 2006, upon the Emiri decree No. 13,
he became the Chief of Audit Bureau, during which  
H.E. participated in developing overall picture for the 
Audit Bureau and formulating the strategic plan of 
the period 2005 – 2010 and 2011 – 2016, which aimed 
to assist the state to achieve sustainable development 
for the Qatari society and strengthen the principle of 
accountability and rational governance dealing with 
actions related to public funds. H.E. was designated to 
take on many responsibilities, such as being appointed 
Head of the National Committee for Transparency 
formulated as per the Emiri decree No. 17 of 2007 after 
the State having signed an anti-corruption agreement 
with United Nations. As well as being appointed  
Head of National Day Celebrations Committee in 2008,  
in 2011, H.E. was appointed consultant in the office of 
Heir Apparent, and General Manager of Sheikh Jassim 
Bin Mohammed Bin Thani Foundation for Social Care, 
established by His Highness Sheikh Hamad Bin Khalifa 
Al Thani. In 18th June, 2012 H.E. participated in the 
launch of Alrayyan TV with a mission to establish ethical 
medium to support Qatar renaissance, identity and 
sustainable development. 

H.E. Mr. Al Ali holds a Bachelor of Science in Engineering 
Management – 1992, from US-based Pacific University.

Mohammad Bin Abdulaziz Al-Saad

Vice Chairman 

Mr. Mohammad Bin Abdulaziz Al-Saad is the  
Vice Chairman and Managing Director of Barwa Bank, 
with a long experience in real estate investment, asset 
management and projects management. He is the 
Chairman of Tanween Company and Qatar Engineering 
and Construction Company, as well as being a board 
member in many companies including Qatar Fuel.
He is the CEO of First Investor Company, in addition 
to being previously appointed Director of Investment 
at Qatar Real Estate Investment Company. Mr. Al-Saad 
holds a Bachelor of Science in Architectural Engineering 
from University of Colorado Boulder.
 
Issa Mohamed Al Muhannadi

Board Member 

H.E. Mr. Issa Bin Mohammed Al Muhannadi is 
the Presdient of Qatar Tourism Authority, with the 
responsibility of planning, regulating, developing and 
promoting sustainable tourism in Qatar, striving for 
economic growth and social development in the tourism 
sector. With project management and international 
business background, he had great input into the new 
tourism sector strategy for Qatar. H.E. Mr. Al Muhannadi 
was previously the Co-founder and CEO of Musheireb 
Properties. He received recognition for being  
‘Property Development CEO of the Year’ at the 7th Middle 
East CEO of the Year Awards organized by the Middle East 
Institute of Excellence in 2010. 

Moreover, Mr. Al Muhannadi is the Founder and 
Chairman of Qatar Green Building Council, which 
promotes sustainability in the domestic construction 
industry as it works towards formal membership in  
“the World Green Building Council”. He also held a variety 
of front line leadership positions at Ras Laffan LNG 
Company - RasGas Ltd. 

Mr. Al Muhannadi holds a Bachelor’s degree from Texas 
A&M University in Kingsville, Texas, and specialized 
training certificates in project management from  
George Washington University, Washington D.C., Harvard 
Business School, INSEAD, and Kellogg Business School.

Khaled Mohamed Ebrahim Al Sayed 

Board Member 

Mr. Khaled Mohamed Al Sayed brings in wealth of 
expertise in supply chain and projects management. 
He previously held a range of leadership positions in 
internationally recognized organizations based in Qatar 
and the United Arab Emirates. He had a significant 
contribution to Occidental Oil & Gas Corporation and 
Shell EP International Ltd. He was also appointed Group 
CEO of Qatari Diar. Mr. Al Sayed holds a Bachelor in 
electrical engineering from the United States of America.

Khalid Mubarak Al Delaimi

Board Member

Mr. Khalid Mubarak Al Delaimi serves currently as 
the Chairman of SMEET Company, Chairman and 
member of the Executive Committee of Qatar Project 
Management Company, Vice Chairman of First Lease 
Company and Regional Director for Qatar & Africa 
Projects at Qatari Diar. He is a board member in many 
businesses including, Barwa Bank, LUSAIL HOCHTIEF 
and QD-CPC Industries. Mr. Al Delaimi was previously 
appointed the Consul General of the State of Qatar and 
Commercial Attaché of the Qatari Embassy in  
London-UK and Head of IT Department in Qatar’s 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Mr. Al Delaimi holds a 
Bachelor in Management and Computer Sciences – 1997, 
and Masters of Management and Leadership - 2006.

Mohammed Ibrahim Al Sulaiti 

Board Member

Mr. Mohammed Ibrahim Al Sulaiti is the Deputy CEO 
of Finance and Investment Affairs at Qatar Navigation 
Company, and a board member at Al Meera Group and 
Halul Offshore Services Company. Mr. Al Sulaiti holds a 
Bachelor in Business Administration from the University 
of Roger Williams (R.A) – 1988.

Yousef Ali Al Obaidan

Board Member

Mr. Yousef Ali Al Obaidan is Acting Chief Executive 
Officer of The First Investor. Since joining the company 
in 2007, he held many positions in Investment Banking 
and others. He previously worked as Head of Customer 
Finance in QAPCO, in addition to serving on the Board of 
Directors of many prominent companies. Mr. Al Obaidan 
holds a Bachelor of Arts in Finance and Masters of Arts 
in Integrated Marketing & Communications from the 
California State University. 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
REPORT
on the Financial Year ending 31/12/2013
and the Company’s Future Plans for 2014

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of myself and members of the Board of Directors of Barwa Real Estate Group,  
I am pleased to present the report on the company’s activities, performance, 
consolidated financials for the year 2013, and future plans. 

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere thanks and appreciation to  
Mr. Hitmi Al-Hitmi, the previous Chairman and his fellow Board members for their 
hard work and contributions during their tenure with Barwa.

COMPANY’S PERFORMANCE
2013 was a year that witnessed important milestones 
in Barwa, delivering solid financial and operating 
performance. Two years ago, we had set up a strategic 
roadmap to turnaround the group portfolio, to deliver 
acceptable level of returns to our stakeholders and to 
position Barwa towards achieving its vision to be  
“reliable real estate company recognized for its strong 
values, excellence and sustainable returns to its 
stakeholders”. 2013 marked the completion of the 
portfolio turnaround phase, cleaning up the balance 
sheet offloading the heavy legacy assets, removing the 
high liabilities associated with these assets, achieving 
sustainable cost savings and high profitability margin. 
We have also implemented several initiatives last year 
focusing on enhancing the operational efficiency, building 
the right capabilities and a high performance culture. 
Some of the key accomplishments for 2013 include: 

•	 We have achieved a net profit of QR. 1,370 Million with 
QR. 3.53 per share compared to Net Profit of QR. 1,123 
Million with QR. 2.92 per share in 2012. As a result of 
implementing good financial discipline and successful 
capital recycling, we have accomplished sustainable 
cost savings as reflected in decrease of general and 
administrative expenditure from QR. 431 Million in 2012 
to QR. 396 Million in 2013 and reduction of the total 
liabilities from QR. 37 Billion in 2012 to QR. 30 Billion  
in 2013.

•	 Barwa Commercial Avenue, the unique mixed use retail 
project consisting of retail, office and residential units 
was completed and handed over to tenants.  
Occupancy has reached 100% for the residential units 
and 50% for the retail units. 

•	 Barwa City achieved 86% occupancy and Barwa  
Al Sadd, Barwa Village and Masaken projects maintain 
more than 95% occupancy.

•	 Barwa Al Baraha Phase 1, the high quality workers 
accommodation is 75% complete and is on target to be 
delivered by 3rd quarter of 2014. Occupancy expected to 
reach 90% by the year end.

•	 Barwa Financial District, which was sold to QP  
is progressing as per schedule and expected to be 
completed and handed over by 1st quarter of 2015.

•	 Barwa Al Sadd Hotel tower, which was sold to Katara 
Hospitality, is almost completed and will start operations 
in 2nd quarter of 2014.

•	 Barwa Al Khor residential project consisting of 300 
residential apartments and 50 villas for Qatar Shell 
staff is progressing well and is on target to achieve the 
contractual completion date of 4th quarter of 2014. 

•	 Al Aqaria continues to focus on providing housing and 
amenities in Industrial Area and has QR. 1.94 billion 
worth of projects under construction and around QR. 3.79 
billion projects in the pipeline (under design/negotiation).

•	 Refurbishment works on the London based Northrow 
project, offering office spaces in the prime west end area 
of London completed within the targeted timeline of July 
2013 and has achieved an occupancy rate of more  
than 90%.

•	 Amicable settlement entered with Real Estate Investment 
Establishment on the Ajman project, recovering  
QR. 230 million which was earlier under impairment.

•	 Barwa was awarded a significant judgment in Bahrain 
Chamber of Dispute Resolution against Dannat Resort 
Development Company in excess of QR. 61 million.

•	 Framework agreement finalized with Qatari Diar for 
divestment of Barwa City, Barwa Commercial Avenue, 
Barwa Al Sadd, Barwa Bank, Astrakhan Russia, Laranca 
Cyprus, Guidance Hotels Investment Company, Al Imtiaz 
Kuwait, QD-SBG, QD-CPC and AFS portfolio.

GOVERNANCE, SYSTEMS AND  
RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board of Directors and Executive Management 
are committed to developing and maintaining highest 
standards of governance in every area of our business 
activities. Governance is at the core of Barwa’s corporate 
strategy and we continue to strengthen our brand 

perception and credibility through uncompromising 
commitment to greater disclosure and transparency.  
2013 marked great progress in implementing 
the corporate governance policy that covers the 
governance principles, board of directors, duties and 
responsibilities, board and management committees 
and their terms, internal control and risk management. 
We continue to refine our operational policies, processes 
and functions eliminating layers and complexities 
in order to achieve the optimal level of efficiency in 
our operations. We have also implemented several 
enhancements to the existing ERP system to improve 
the speed and efficiency of our operations.

Our risk culture is embedded in our corporate strategy 
and is crucial towards efficiently planning and 
delivering our core real estate projects and managing 
our investment portfolio. During last year, we have 
undertaken a ‘Lessons learnt’ exercise involving the key 
stakeholders to gather, document and analyze the lessons 
from the past projects and to serve as a guideline to 
improve the processes related to planning, execution and 
delivery of the future projects.

HUMAN CAPITAL
Our talent development strategy entails strong focus 
on professional development solutions for enhancing 
the core business knowledge, skills and industry best 
practices. During 2013, we have implemented a  
“Core Business Capacity Building Program” in  
association with world’s leading professional body in real 
estate education, the UK based Royal Institute for  
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) for the executive staff. We 
have also implemented a 360 degree feedback process 
for the senior management, which is a good talent 
development tool that assist in setting and measuring 
focused personal and professional development goals.

Barwa is strongly committed to Qatar National 
Vision 2030 and its human development pillar 
through education, training, learning and continuous 
development programs for national talents and 
establishment of internationally recognized standards. 
Qatarization has reached more than 50% of the total 
headcount. Most of the senior management positions  
are occupied by Qatari nationals.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
We are proud of our contribution to Qatar’s society, 
and we will continue to find ways of supporting the 
community through a range of activities, support 
and contributions. Believing in its role towards the 
community, Barwa has offered a number of units in 
its Real Estate projects for the social associations & 
corporations in Qatar. 

OUR FUTURE PLAN 2014
Barwa has an exciting land bank of opportunities 
which are being assessed to identify the best use of the 
company’s assets with the aim of maximizing shareholder 
value. We are progressing with development of  
Barwa Al Baraha Phase 2, which is an extension of 
current Baraha Phase 1. Both phases together will 

accommodate 53,000 workers and is considered the 
largest workers accommodation in Qatar and the GCC. 
The project also reflects Barwa’s strategy towards 
developing innovative solutions and supporting the 
Qatar National Vision 2030 by contributing towards the 
country’s urban development. As Barwa continues on the 
path to develop integrated communities, another project 
that will be launched soon is Fox Hills North located 
in the city of Lusail. This project once completed will 
have about 3000 units. Phase I of this project is Dara, 
which will be offered to the public this year. Construction 
works also expected to start on Barwa Al Doha, which 
will be developed as a strip retail catering to local 
merchant traders. The project is designed to have quick 
development time frame and generating strong lease 
income resulting in a short payback period of  
4 years. Barwa acquired the strip of land on the eastern 
boundary of Barwa Village in Dec 2012, which has good 
road frontage with high passing traffic and it controls the 
arrival experience into Barwa Village making the land 
attractive to retail tenants. During 2014, we are planning 
to start development of the land as retail space on G+M 
with residential space on 1st and 2nd floors.

Barwa is continuing its strategic analysis of development 
opportunities with diversified business models such as 
BOT, BTO, PPP models, with prospective local clients 
such as Ministry of Energy, Qatar University,  
Ministry of Municipality and Urban Planning,  
Motor City, Qatar Rail and other similar opportunities to 
ensure a strong pipeline of quality investment prospects 
that can deliver superior returns for our shareholders and 
ensure sustainable growth. 

APPRECIATION
In the end, I would like to extend sincere thanks and 
appreciation to His Highness Sheikh Tamim Bin Hamad 
Al Thani, the Emir of the State of Qatar, for his great 
support and keenness to enrich Qatar’s renaissance and 
achieve the best results for its people. I would also like 
to thank His Excellency Sheikh Abdullah bin Nasser bin 
Khalifa Al Thani, Prime Minister and Minister of Interior 
for the continuous support which the government offers 
to Barwa Real Estate. I am grateful to our shareholders 
and customers for their support which helps us achieve 
the group’s vision and objectives, as well as the group 
employees for their dedication and loyalty. 

 

Salah bin Ghanem bin Nasser Al Ali
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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SHARI’A SUPERVISORY
BOARD REPORT
on the Financial Year ending 31/12/2013
IN THE NAME OF GOD THE MERCIFUL

FATWA & SHARIA COMPLIANCE AUTHORITY REPORT
REGARDING BARWA REAL ESTATE CO.

Alhamdullah and Peace be upon his prophet Mohammed, 
his family, companions and followers.

We at the Fatwa and Sharia Supervisory Authority 
of Barwa Real Estate Co., had checked the applied 
principles and the transactions related to contracts,  
as well as the applications which the company 
implemented during the year ended 31/12/2013, and 
carried out the check required for giving our opinion 
about whether the company has complied with the 
provisions and principles of the Islamic Sharia and the 
fatwas, decisions and specific directives previously issued 
from our part. 

The Authority, through its executive member, has 
carried out the check which included inspecting the 
documentation and the adopted procedures, on the 
basis of examining each kind of the transactions,  
and in our opinion: 

1)	 The contracts, transactions, and dealings, which 
the company concluded during the year ended 
31/12/2013, and which we have perused, were 
accomplished in compliance with the provisions  
and principles of the Islamic Sharia.

2)	 The profit distribution and loss bearing on the 
investment accounts complies with the basis approved 
by us, in accordance with the provisions  
and principles of Islamic Sharia.

3)	 Computing the Charity (Zakat) was in compliance 
with the provisions and principles of Islamic Sharia.

We seize this opportunity to express our gratitude and 
appreciation to the company’s management for its 
positive response and cooperation with the Authority, 
and to all the shareholders and dealers with the company, 
asking God to bless their efforts for serving the Islamic 
Economy and developing our country in a manner that 
achieves welfare to all. 

Alsalamu Alaykom wa Rahmat Allah wa Barakatu.

Dr. Osama Qays Al-Deraié
Executive Member of Shari’ah
Supervisory Board
Barwa Real Estate

GROUP CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER MESSAGE

I am pleased to report that 2013 was a year of significant 
improvements in Barwa, achieving best results in 
profitability, cost efficiency, quality of earnings and cash 
flow position. Revenue increased by 25% from QR. 2,461 
million in 2012 to QR. 3,077 million in 2013 and Net 
Profit increased by 22% from QR. 1,123 million in 2012 to 
QR. 1,370 million in 2013. Rental income recorded strong 
growth as demonstrated by increase of 35% from QR. 741 
million in 2012 to QR. 999 million in 2013. General & 
Administrative expenditure reduced by 8% from QR. 431 
million in 2012 to QR. 396 million in 2013.

Our Corporate Strategy, outlined in 2011, focused 
on enhancing the projects planning and execution 
capabilities, improving the subsidiary competitiveness 
and build sustainable business models and implementing 
good governance, risk management and internal 
controls. Barwa Al Baraha Phase I, the high quality 
workers accommodation started in January, 2013, is 
progressing very well as per schedule and is on target 
to be delivered by quarter 3 of 2014. Barwa Al Khor 
residential development for Qatar Shell staff, started in 
February 2013 is also on target to be delivered by end 
of 2014. On the international front, we have delivered 
the Northrow London property refurbishment works 
in July 2013 on time and below budget and managed 
to achieve 90% occupancy. As a result of implementing 
good governance and risk management, all our current 
and new developments are being delivered in a timely 
and cost effective manner and thus achieving the targeted 
returns on investment. All our key subsidiaries have 
fundamentally turned around recording the best financial 
and operating performance last year. QPM has achieved a 
net profit of QR. 26.3 million in 2013 compared to  
QR. 5.8 million in 2012 and overheads margin reduced 
from 27.4% in 2012 to 18.2% in 2013. Waseef has 
achieved a net profit of QR. 22 million compared to 
QR. 5.3 million in 2012 and general & administrative 
expenditure reduced from QR. 21.7 million in 2012 to 
QR.13.8 million in 2013. These results indeed serve as a 
proof that we are delivering on our corporate strategy. 

Our business plan 2014 includes four key drivers to 
deliver long term sustainable growth and shareholder 
value which are asset monetization, land bank 
development, strategy improving the operating revenue 
stream, and selective geographic diversification.  
We are confident that the strategic turnaround that we 
have accomplished so far places us in a position to ensure 
better growth prospects and deliver acceptable returns to 
our shareholders.

We are inspired by Qatar National Vision 2030 and we try 
to ensure that everything we do at Barwa contributes to 
the four pillars of national vision; Human Development,  
Social Development, Economic Development and 
Environmental Development. Barwa’s growth strategy 
aims to capitalize on the infrastructure development 
plans in Qatar by developing some of the most important 
projects in Qatar while also paving the way for the 
company to further expand its reach into international  
real estate markets and investment opportunities.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express my 
sincere thanks and gratitude to H.E. Salah bin Ghanem 
bin Nasser Al Ali, Chairman of Board of Directors and all 
the board members for their guidance and support.  
I extend my thanks and appreciation to the management 
team and employees for their continued dedication, 
support and contributions in achieving the company’s 
strategic objectives.

Abdulla Bin Abdulaziz Turki Al Subaie
Group Chief Executive Officer

Dear Shareholders

“May peace, blessings and mercy of Allah Almighty be upon all of you”
Alhamdullah and Peace be upon his prophet Mohammed, his family,  
companions and followers.
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4,426,420 SQM

total number of units released to achieve economic balance

3,375 units
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financial highlights
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
Effective governance is a key pillar of the  
Corporate Strategy and Management in Barwa,  
at all levels. The group continuously strives to set a 
good example and be a role model for transparency, 
fairness, accountability and control, through 
continuous improvement of governance,  
management processes and associated activities. 
Barwa aims to achieve full compliance with the 
corporate governance code for companies listed in 
the markets regulated by Qatar Financial Markets 
Authority through protecting shareholders rights 
and improving its business and management in 
compliance with international best practices and  
set regulations and frameworks.

2013 marked great progress in implementing 
the Corporate Governance Policy that covers the 
Governance Principles, Board Of Directors, Duties and 
Responsibilities, Board And Management Committees 
and their terms, Internal Control and Risk Management. 

The Board is the main decision-making forum for 
the company and is accountable to shareholders for 
the strategic, financial and operational performance. 
To enable the Board to carry out its objectives, 
it has established and delegated authority to the 
Board committees, as set out in the framework 

below. The Board empower the management to 
execute the group strategy and deliver its strategic 
priorities. The Executive management is responsible 
to report regularly to the Board about progress 
towards organizational objectives, financial status 
of the organization and other issues of concern to 
ensure that the Board is kept informed of material 
information relating to the performance and financial 
health of the Group, in line with sound principles 
and Corporate Governance practices. We have also 
established a compliance function under  
Group Legal and Compliance department whose 
mandate is developing a compliance framework, 
preparing and updating check-lists on compliance  
of applicable Laws and Regulations.

Board of Directors

Audit Committee

Investment & Risk Committee General Tender Committee Limited Tender Committee

Nomination
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Executive
Committee

Group Chief Executive OfficerGroup Internal Audit

•	 Oversee Accounting 
Principles, Governance and 
Controls related matters

•	 Review the control 
framework for the 
management of risks  
that Barwa is exposed to

•	 Consider any Governance 
non-compliance matters and 
provide recommendations to 
the Board 

•	 Review the Annual  
Financial Statements

•	 Oversee External and 
Internal Auditors

•	 Review the investment strategy and 
Investment optimization plan to the 
Board and monitor progress

•	 Review funding/ financing plans 
and provide recommendations

•	 Review investment and related 
entities’ performance reports and 
strategic matters

•	 Review the risk management 
framework for identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring risks that 
Barwa is exposed to

•	 Responsible for all procurement 
requirements where the value is 
above QAR 5,000,000

•	 Review Barwa’s procurement 
strategies, contracting, tendering 
and purchasing policies and 
procedures to recommend 
amendments to  
the Board/ Board Committees

•	 Periodically review the standard 
terms of contracts

•	 Responsible for all procurement 
requirements where the value is up 
to QAR 5,000,000

•	 Develop tendering guidelines 
including bids opening, selection, 
evaluation, negotiation and 
awarding procedures for limited 
tenders in accordance with 
delegated authorities

•	 Review/ approve pre-qualification 
criteria for vendors

•	 Nominate & identify new 
board member candidates 
and nominate existing 
members for re-election

•	 Evaluate performance  
of the current BOD

•	 Review candidates for 
Senior Executive positions 
and related entity Boards

•	 Develop the framework for 
remuneration of Directors 
and Executive Management

•	 Assist in setting 
remuneration policies 
and structure for Barwa 
representatives in related 
entity Boards

•	 Act as a Consultative Body  
to the BOD

•	 Reviews business strategy, 
annual budget, and Barwa’s 
capital structure, etc.
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BARWA REAL 
ESTATE GROUP
Established in 2005, Barwa Real Estate Group  
is one of the leading Real Estate Development and 
Investment companies in Qatar. The Group’s vision  
is to become a reliable real estate company recognized 
for its strong values, excellence and sustainable 
returns to its stakeholders. 

Barwa’s Real Estate portfolio consists of developments 
as well as income generating real estate investments 
that includes residential units, shopping malls, 
offices and mixed use developments. The Group has 
also synergistic Investments focused on supporting 
profitability & sustainable growth to the core real estate 
business consisting of business services companies and 
infrastructure companies that complement the full 
lifecycle of development process. 

The Group’s portfolio include some of Qatar’s
pre-eminent projects, businesses and entities including 
Barwa Commercial Avenue, Qatar Petroleum District 
originally Barwa Financial District, Barwa Al Sadd, 
Barwa City, Barwa Village,Barwa Al Baraha, QPM, 
Waseef, Tanween and Smeet. 

With an expanding project portfolio, Barwa Real Estate 
Group has built an enviable track record of taking on 
large scale, complex and unique developments and 
completing them to the highest standards. While its main 
activities are Qatar focused, investments and operations 
extend regionally and internationally.

Barwa is currently the largest publicly listed real estate 
company in Qatar in terms of real estate developments.
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CONNECTING BUSINESSES 
TO OUR DEVELOPMENTS
In Barwa we maintain a high level of customer 
interaction with corporates and business owners through 
face-to-face meetings, presentations and site visits.  
Our tenants enjoy special privileges of competitive rates 
and sufficient grace periods to conduct fit out works 
when leasing large spaces of our commercial and retail 
units. Barwa’s capabilities to release big numbers of 
real estate units and complete buildings for corporates 
within integrated residential & commercial environment 
is a factor of attraction to corporates, yet another factor 
is Barwa’s flexibility in negotiations in order to reach 
common grounds to seal deals. 

In 2013, for instance, we leased the entire  
“Barwa Al Khor – Shell” project to Shell in Qatar.  
The residential project expands over 138,000 square 
meters and provides 50 villas and 300 apartments over 15 
buildings each is five floors high. The project offers green 
spaces, pedestrian roads and play grounds. It provides 
as well a nursery, a mosque, commercial shop, a fitness 
club and other facilities which provide an integrated life 
style to tenants. Shell is expected to accommodate its 
staff within the project by during the fourth quarter of 

2014. Moreover, in Barwa we walk the extra mile to offer 
corporates services beyond leasing to develop complete 
projects in their favor, similar to our efforts in QP District 
project which is being developed by Barwa for  
Qatar Petroleum. Upon completion, QP District will 
be the headquarters for Qatar Petroleum. The district 
consists of 9 office towers averaging between 17 to 36 
floors and a 5 Star Hotel in a prominent position in 
Doha’s West Bay area. From ground level, the highest 
flagship tower sores to 49 story’s and will become one  
of Doha’s landmark sights and an icon of the city’s skyline. 
In addition to state-of-the-art technology, and parking 
facilities provided in the project. The project is currently 
under construction and Qatar Petroleum is expected to 
commence occupation of the development in early 2017.

HELPING PEOPLE FIND 
THEIR DREAMS
In Barwa we help people fulfill their real estate dreams. 
We work hard to ensure providing our current and 
potential customers with a special service and to ensure  
a customer is being looked after throughout the process 
of renting a house and even after he moves in. 

Through our property management service provider, 
Waseef, we offer integrated services which identify 
potential customers and utilize all provided channels to 
communicate with them whether through promotional 
campaigns, briefings, site visits or electronically through 
online & new media campaigns and enquiry platforms. 
Leasing and maintenance solutions are planned and 
conducted to increase efficiencies and maintain quality 
living to our tenants. Other services are provided such 

as landscaping services, pest control, cleaning services, 
elevator maintenance, fire alarm, fire detection and 
firefighting system maintenance, security services, 
residential unit cleaning & client car wash services.

Our customers enjoy significant 24/7 Call Center 
operations to address emergency, urgent and routine 
requests. The Call Center is a key resource run by Waseef, 
working to connect customers to the appropriate services 
for any facility in an efficient manner.

33Barwa Real Estate Company Q.S.C.Annual Report 201332



UPL
IF

T IN
 C

ON
ST

RUCTIO
N

CO
ST

S

FR
O
M

 1
5%

 T
O
 2
0%

 O
N

LY

AT
 L
EA

ST
 5
0%

 R
ED

UCED

UTIL
IT

Y 
BI

LL
S

LO
W

ER
 m

ai
nta

in
an

ce

cost
s o

n lo
ng t

er
m

EN
VIR

ON
M

EN
TA

L

IM
PA

CT

OF 
GREE

N
 B

UIL
D
IN

GS

TA
KE 

IN
TO

 A
CCO

UN
T 

TH
E 

BU
IL

D
IN

G’S 
EF

FE
CT

ON
 T

H
E 

CO
M

M
UN

IT
Y

SA
FE

GUARD
 W

AT
ER

RES
O
URCES

TA
KE 

AN
 IN

TEL
LI

GEN
T 

APP
RO

ACH
 T

O
 E

N
ER

GY

EN
H

AN
CED

 H
EA

LT
H

 

AN
D
 W

EL
L-

BE
IN

G

50
% le

ss

 w
at

er
 c

onsu
m

pt
io

n

ai
rti

ght

bu
il
din

g d
es

ig
n

re
quir

in
g li

tt
le

 en
er

gy

fo
r 

sp
ac

e c
ooli

ng

red
ucti

on

of e
nvi

ro
nm

en
ta

l 

fo
otp

ri
nt

50
% le

ss

el
ec

tr
ic

it
y 
consu

m
pt

io
n

our contribution

to the environm
ent



GREEN BARWA
Sustaining economic growth is not possible without 
having an environmental vision that creates the balance 
between economic development and protection of the 
environment. A vision which extends beyond the borders 
of resources and capabilities, rather it’s a mind-set which 
should be fertilised more often and altered into a reality. 

Environmental challenges are stronger today than ever 
and among the increased calls for energy saving and the 
on-and-off conferences and exhibitions about the matter, 
stands the necessity to identify the real solution to the 
issue, experiment and application, the road which Barwa 
takes into achieving environmental balance of  
Qatar National Vision 2030. 

Baytna
Demonstrating the great potential which lies in  
the State of Qatar, Barwa plays a leading role in the 
adoption of sustainable construction techniques and 
energy-efficient building standards applied throughout 
Barwa projects. The group launched its green experiment 
“Baytna” passivehaus initiative, in collaboration with 
Kahramaa, Qatar Green Building Council and an array 
of scientific partners. “Baytna” provides a Passivhaus villa 
and a conventional villa located side by side in  
Barwa City; to undergo a comparison of energy usage and 
environmental footprint. The experiment raises public 
awareness on the increased need for green building 
industry; hence, Barwa is dedicating huge efforts to prove 
the possibility to achieve at least 50% less energy, water 
and operational carbon dioxide.

The ultimate goal is to have the results of “Baytna” 
utilized for application throughout the building industry 
in Qatar in the future. In light of this ambitious vision,  
it is vital to highlight that the cost analysis for 
construction of Qatar’s Passivhaus which significantly 
improve environmental performance may only require a 
relatively modest increase in capital costs for buildings. 
The initiative aims to keep the inevitable uplift in capital 
costs required to comply with Passivhaus building 
standards within 15% to 20% above those of the 
conventional villa.

Building technologies
Apart from Baytna, Barwa follows energy efficient 
building technologies in many of its projects such 
as District Cooling Technology which saves energy 
consumption of air conditioning, which is the main factor 
in consuming energy as it’s responsible for around 70% of 
the energy wasted. 

Barwa ensures providing green spaces as part of 
its projects to ensure a healthy life style to tenants. 
Moreover, Barwa City is provided by a Sewage Treatment 
Plan which filters sewage water to re-use it for planting,  
a sustainable green way to reuse resources within the city. 

Environmental activities 
Side by side to Barwa long term environmental programme, 
additional activities to raise awareness on environmental 
aspects were conducted. Earth Week campaign was 
conducted on public and corporate levels in order to spread 
the culture of going environmentally friendly. The campaign 
used different communication channels to highlight the 
dangers threatening the environment and provided tips on 
how to prevent them.
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PEOPLE AND BARWA
We reach out to our people through real estate.  
With the responsibility of creating more than just 
buildings, but complete communities, Barwa Group 
finds the secret to achieving sustainable growth through 
building a solid community, therefore the most ambitious 
projects undertaken by Barwa are operating with the 
philosophy of bringing people together. This requires 
wider initiatives to serve the community needs. 

Safety & security
Increased foreign investment coming to Qatar directs  
the state not only to create the right conditions for 
industry, but to ensure the safety of those working 
there as well. The recent amendments to the laws of  
Civil Defense are set to accomplish that. Barwa long 
excelled in providing the highest levels of security and 
safety at its developments for its employees, workers, 
customers and tenants through setting standards 
for application & inspection and conducting raising 
awareness activities. Barwa had completed  
6,830,632 hours of accident free man work as part 
of Barwa Commercial Avenue, Barwa City, Barwa Al 
Sadd, Barwa Village and Masaken Mesaimeer and 
AlSailiya projects.

Moreover, Barwa has signed an agreement with  
the Civil Defence Department to support their  
Safety & Security programme “The Safe Home” which 
includes a number of awareness raising activities aimed 
at the Qatari community. The programme educates the 
public on the safety & prevention requirements and 
provides the media awareness car which is equipped with 
screens, educational movies and a specialized library to 
target the public crowds during national celebrations and 
provide them with the necessary safety training.

Workers well-being
Great efforts have been planned and implemented 
to look after workers in Qatar. This is a commitment 
towards building a solid society where its different social 
categories live in harmony, achieved by shrinking the 
social differences and raising the standards of living for 
those with limited income.

The group implements its strategy through targeting 
different social categories with services that address their 
needs. Based on that, Barwa was drawn towards a new 
direction which identifies workers as a priority. 

The services and projects aimed at migrant workers in 
Qatar does not go in parallel with the growth in their 
numbers, nor with the important role they play in the 
urban development of Qatar today. Hence, Barwa is now 
utilizing its capabilities to focus on projects for workers. 
Barwa Al Baraha is the largest developmental project 

which Barwa constructs in favor of workers in Qatar.  
It extends over approximately 1.8 million square meters, 
with capacity of 53,000 workers. The second phase of 
Barwa Al Baraha offers workers accommodation,  
as it provides 64 residential buildings for workers,  
each gathering 130 rooms, as well as 16 residential 
buildings for junior & senior staff each gathering  
97 rooms. Barwa Al Baraha gathers all needed facilities 
for residents including sports facilities, a shopping mall, 
restaurants, a medical centre and public spaces. 

Non-profit & social causes
For those with middle and limited income, a number 
of housing projects were developed to provide efficient 
housing solutions with affordable prices and high quality. 
Barwa Village and Masaken Mesaimeer & Al Sailiya are 
examples of those leading housing solutions projects. 
Moreover, the two projects are now serving a number of 
social responsibility initiatives aimed at addressing main 
challenges of the Qatari community.  
Residential & commercial units in the projects were 
dedicated to Qatar Orphan Foundations “Dhreima” 
and Ministry of Social Affairs. Free commercial units 
in Barwa Village have also been dedicated to “Forsati” 
programme organized by Ministry of Social Affairs to 
support productive families. Qatar Charity has been 
among the organizations dedicated a commercial unit in  
Barwa Village for its project “Zawaj” to help youth with 
low income through the burdens of marriage expenses.

Health 
Community health awareness is another hot topic not 
to be overlooked. Health organisations in Qatar are 
paying good efforts to prepare the necessary resources 
which can improve the health life of the people of Qatar, 
whether by educating people on preventing illness or 
on how to discover it early enough and seek treatment. 
Barwa held various corporate activities to address health 
awareness need through publishing educational collateral 
containing general health facts and tips such as  
the World Health Day flyer, and other activities which 
provides vaccinations such as a campaign in collaboration 
with the Primary Healthcare Corporation which provided 
flu vaccinations and other campaigns in collaboration 
with Hamad Medical Corporation to provide awareness 
activities on Diabetes and offer diabetes screening tests. 

Blood donation campaigns are vital to health 
organizations in Qatar, to save lives of patients and the 
high rate of accidents victims. Barwa continues to be 
actively involved in Health activities collaborating with 
Hamad Medical Corporation. Those ongoing campaigns 
fulfill the needs of blood units in Hamad Medical 
Corporation blood bank. 

PEOPLE OF BARWA
People of Barwa are key to the success of its business. 
Hence, in Barwa we respect and value the individuality 
and diversity that every employee brings to the business; 
we also seek to create an environment of Mutual Respect, 
Transparency and Teamwork.

A skilled caliber
Barwa team come from a broad diversity of educational 
and professional backgrounds, all bound by a shared 
passion for problem solving, a drive to have significant 
contribution to the business and capabilities to manage 
and cope with change without leaving a negative impact 
on the business. Engaged employees make  
the greatest contribution to our efficiency, culture and 
results. Ultimately, they deliver value to our consumers, 
customers and all stakeholders.

In Barwa, we encourage the team to be creative and 
innovative in generating new ideas, solving problems 
and improving continuously. Employees can do so by 
participating in training and development programmes 
varying between soft skills & technical training. During 
2013, 75% of Barwa employees joined development 
programmes and leadership plans at Barwa.

Qatarisation
Barwa is committed towards supporting  
the Qatar National Vision 2030, which aims  
to recruit and develop Qatari nationals in order 
to achieve Qatar’s long-term development and 
prosperity. Building a successful business environment 
and prosperous nation requires the support of an 
exceptional and dedicated team who are committed 
towards quality and consistency. We therefore focus on 
quality nationalization of jobs through performance 
based learning and continuous development.

Qatarization measures 50% of the total headcount.  
Most of the Senior Management positions are occupied 
by Qatari nationals.

Sponsored students
As Barwa works hard to achieve an effective recruitment 
process, we have established the sponsored students 
programme. We have 50 sponsored students in all fields, 
studying in United Kingdom, United States, Europe and 
other Arab countries.  

Employee wellbeing
We place the highest priority on the health and safety 
of our employees and the safety of the environment in 
which they work. Barwa therefore sets up solutions and 
standards of real estate safety measures in accordance 
with the specifications provided by Civil Defense 
Department in Qatar. We continuously work on 
organizing raising awareness campaigns whether for 
health, environment or safety, to educate the team about 
the necessity of applying recommended measures, which 
is apparent in the social initiatives we foster.  
Those initiatives are usually applied on corporate level 
before broadening their limit to cover the wider community.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
BARWA REAL ESTATE COMPANY Q.S.C.

Report on the consolidated
financial statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of Barwa Real Estate Company 
Q.S.C. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries  
(together referred to as the “Group”), which comprise  
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other  
explanatory information. 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated 
financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from  
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2013 and 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

Report on legal and other
regulatory requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account 
have been kept by the Group and the consolidated 
financial statements comply with the Qatar Commercial 
Companies’ Law No. 5 of 2002 and the Company’s Articles 
of Association. We further confirm that the financial 
information included in the Annual Report of the Board 
of Directors is in agreement with the books and records 
of the Group. We have obtained all the information and 
explanations we required for the purpose of our audit,  
and are not aware of any violations of the above mentioned 
law or the Articles of Association having occurred during  
the year, which might have had a material effect on the 
business of the Group or on its financial position.

Ziad Nader
of Ernst & Young
Auditor’s Registration No. 258

Date: 12 March 2014
Doha
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 

For the year ended 31 December 2013
2013 2012

Notes QR’000 QR’000

(Restated)

Continuing operations

REVENUES AND GAINS

Rental income 999,173 740,645

Income from consultancy and other related services 32 292,564 365,173

Profit on sale of properties 33 954 284,787

Profit on disposal of subsidiaries 34 232,327 189,639

Profit on disposal of an associate 11 (ii) 336,548 -

Net fair value gain on investment properties 15 718,474 433,111

Share of results of associates and a joint venture 16&17 90,679 228,643

Other income – net 35 406,636 219,343

TOTAL REVENUES AND GAINS 3,077,355 2,461,341

EXPENSES AND LOSSES

Operating expenses 36 (437,368) (404,011)

General and administrative expenses 37 (395,581) (431,121)

Net finance costs 38 (441,757) (201,527)

Net impairment losses 39 (103,534) (197,649)

Provision for litigations 44 (32,774) -

Depreciation 19 (93,536) (80,064)

TOTAL EXPENSES AND LOSSES (1,504,550) (1,314,372)

Profit before income tax 1,572,805 1,146,969

Income tax expense 21 (5,853) (5,298)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,566,952 1,141,671

Discontinued operations

Loss after tax for the year from discontinued operations 10 (196,871) (18,713)

Profit for the year 1,370,081 1,122,958

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 1,374,987 1,137,375

Non-controlling interests (4,906) (14,417)

1,370,081 1,122,958

Basic and diluted earnings per share  

(attributable to shareholders of the parent expressed in QR per share) 40 3.53 2.92

The attached notes from 1 to 51 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2013
2013 2012

Notes QR’000 QR’000

ASSETS (Restated)

Cash and bank balances 5 955,336 665,514

Receivables and prepayments 6 902,358 720,589

Finance lease receivables 7 2,508,058 2,792,229

Due from related parties 8 2,880,482 2,724,291

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 8,776 6,704

Assets of subsidiaries classified as held for sale 10 1,868 5,782,872

Non-current assets held for sale 11 4,344,252 373,856

Advances for projects and investments 12 317,329 596,998

Available-for-sale financial assets 13 208,005 366,406

Trading properties 14 19,818,842 18,396,769

Investment properties 15 9,758,249 12,415,315

Investments in associates 16 500,564 2,285,001

Investments in a joint venture 17 2,153,497 2,079,294

Property, plant and equipment 19 417,265 873,415

Goodwill 20 126,411 126,411

Deferred tax assets 21 783 113

TOTAL ASSETS 44,902,075 50,205,777

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  

LIABILITIES

Payables and other liabilities 22 2,416,693 3,030,334

Due to related parties 8 385,276 7,091,839

Liabilities of subsidiaries classified as held for sale 10 612 11,540 

Obligations under Islamic finance contracts 25 27,788,091 26,661,159 

Liabilities under derivative financial instruments 26 - 142,128 

Deferred tax liabilities 21 793 205 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 30,591,465 36,937,205

EQUITY

Share capital 27 3,891,246 3,891,246

Treasury shares 28 (4,119) (4,119)

Legal reserve 29 842,294 811,555

General reserve 30 4,639,231 4,639,231

Other reserves 31 (36,484) (325,916)

Retained earnings 4,478,958 3,752,649

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 13,811,126 12,764,646

Non-controlling interests 499,484  503,926

TOTAL EQUITY 14,310,610 13,268,572

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 44,902,075 50,205,777

These consolidated financial statements were approved and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors by the following on  
12 March 2014.

H.E. Salah Bin Ghanem Al Ali 
Chairman

Abdulla Abdulaziz Al-Subaie
Group Chief Executive Officer 

The attached notes from 1 to 51 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

For the year ended 31 December 2013
2013 2012

Notes QR’000 QR’000

(Restated)

Profit for the year 1,370,081 1,122,958

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or  

loss in subsequent periods:

Net movement on cash flow hedges 41 - 17,565

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 41 285,629 (305,035)

Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets 41 4,267 36,018

Net other comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified to profit or 

loss in subsequent periods 289,896 (251,452)

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 289,896 (251,452)

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,659,977 871,506

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 1,664,419 885,489

Non-controlling interests (4,442) (13,983)

1,659,977 871,506

The attached notes from 1 to 51 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2013
2013 2012

Notes QR’000 QR’000

(Restated)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,566,952 1,143,484

Loss after tax for the year from discontinued operations (196,871) (20,526)

Profit for the year 1,370,081 1,122,958

Adjustments for:

Net fair value gain on investment properties 15 (718,474) (433,111)

Unrealised gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 35 (2,073) (2,567)

Gain on sale of available-for-sale financial assets 35 (1,795) (7,102)

Depreciation 19 93,536 81,562

Share of results of associates and a joint venture 16&17 (90,679) (228,643)

Fair value change in derivative financial instruments 15,937 (106,558)

Net impairment losses 39 103,534 197,649

Gain on sale of properties 10&33 (954) (284,787)

Profit on disposal of subsidiaries 34 (232,327) (189,639)

Profit on disposal of associate 11 (336,548) -

Fair value loss (gain) on call option 35 50 (21,469)

Unwinding of discount on deferred sale arrangements 38 (336,777) (396,726)

Gain on reversal of provision 35 (265,173) (69,175)

Reversal of board of directors remuneration (10,500) -

Dividend income 35 (10,104) (4,463)

Accruals for board of directors remuneration - 14,000

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 35 (9,141) (42)

Operating loss before working capital changes (431,407) (328,113)

Changes in working capital:

Change in receivables and prepayments 452,873 1,043,272

Amounts due from / due to related parties 58,594 3,531,816

Change in payables and accruals 102,456 (968,817)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 182,516 3,278,158

2013 2012

Notes QR’000 QR’000

(Restated)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash flows from acquisitions of subsidiaries - 176,305

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 477,557 31,000

Purchase of investment properties and trading properties (1,399,581) (3,157,480)

Payments for purchase of available-for-sale financial assets (25,736) (5,423)

Payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment 19 (67,153) (59,619)

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets 46,689 91,389

Proceeds from sale of properties 375,000 1,432,142

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 16,330 7,110

Dividends received from associates 12,000 36,650

Advances for purchase of investments and properties (73,206) (90,088)

Dividend income 35 10,104 4,463

Net movement in short term deposits maturing after three months (67,276) (60,677)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (695,272) (1,594,228)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from obligations under Islamic finance contracts 1,983,232 1,962,084

Payments for the obligations under Islamic finance contracts (856,300) (2,832,952)

Payments for liabilities for purchase of lands - (2,860,797)

Dividends paid 42 (321,028) (389,125)

Receipts of government grant 346,800 -

Settlement of derivative financial liabilities (161,052) (203,448)

Restricted bank balances 564 (99)

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 992,216 (4,324,337)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 479,460 (2,640,407)

Net foreign exchange difference (267,364) 647,622

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 611,531 2,641,754

Cash and cash equivalent for loss of control on subsidiaries 4,625 (37,438)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 5 828,252 611,531

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (Continued)

The attached notes from 1 to 51 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The attached notes from 1 to 51 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 DECEMBER 2013

1.1 CORPORATE INFORMATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Barwa Real Estate Company Q.S.C. (“the Company” or “the Parent”) was incorporated pursuant to the provision of 
Article 68 of the Qatar Commercial Companies Law No. 5 of 2002 as Qatari Shareholding Company under Commercial 
Registration No. 31901 dated 27 December 2005. The term of the Company is 100 years starting from the date of 
declaration in the Commercial Register. The Company is a listed entity on Qatar Exchange.

The Company’s registered office address is P.O. Box 27777, Doha, State of Qatar.

The principal activities of the Company include investment in all types of real estate including acquiring, reclamation, 
dividing, developing and reselling of land and to establish agricultural, industrial, commercial projects on land, or 
lease those land, and also buying, selling and leasing buildings or projects. It also administers and operates real estate 
investments in and outside the State of Qatar. The Company, along with its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”) 
are engaged in the business of developing domestic and international real estate projects, investing, hotels ownership and 
management, projects consulting, advertisement, brokerage services and others.

2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CONSOLIDATION

The principle accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and applicable 
requirements of Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law No. 5 of 2002. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for 
investment properties, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets and 
derivative financial instruments which have been measured at fair value. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Qatari Riyals, which is the Company’s functional and 
presentational currency and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (QR’000), except when otherwise indicated.
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 48. 

2.2 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Barwa Real Estate Company Q.S.C. and 
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) as at 31 December 2013. Control is achieved when the Group is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

•	 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 	
	 of the investee)

•	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
•	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant 
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

•	 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
•	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control 
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group 
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the 
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having 
a deficit balance. These consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like 
transactions and other events in similar circumstances. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All  
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members  
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.  
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

•	 Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
•	 Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests
•	 Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity
•	 Recognises the fair value of the consideration received
•	 Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
•	 Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
•	 Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to profit or loss or retained earnings,  
	 as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities

The Group’s subsidiaries accounting for more than 5% of the total assets and /or operational results of the Group 
during the current or previous financial year are included in these consolidated financial statements are listed 
below. In addition to below listed subsidiaries, there are number of other subsidiaries’ financial statements that are 
consolidated in to these consolidated financial statements and are accounting for less than 5% of the total assets and/
or operational results of the Group.
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Group effective shareholding 

percentage
Name of subsidiary

Country of 

incorporation

31 December 

2013

31 December

2012

Asas Real Estate Company W.L.L Qatar 100% 100%

Al-Waseef Property Management Company S.P.C. Qatar 100% 100%

Barwa Al-Doha Real Estate Company W.L.L Qatar 100% 100%

Barwa International Company S.P.C. Qatar 100% 100%

Barwa Al Sadd Company S.P.C. Qatar 100% 100%

Barwa City Real Estate Company W.L.L Qatar 100% 100%

Barwa Al- Baraha S.P.C. Qatar 100% 100%

Barwa Financial District W.L.L. Qatar 100% 100%

Barwa Village Company S.P.C. Qatar 100% 100%

Gudran S.P.C. Qatar 100% 100%

Masaken Al Sailiya & Mesaimeer Company S.P.C. Qatar 100% 100%

Barwa District Cooling Company S.P.C. Qatar 100% 100%

Qatar Real Estate Investment Company P.J.S.C. Qatar 100% 100%

Cavendish Capital UK 100% 100%

Guidance Hotel Investment Company B.S.C.C. Bahrain 96.5% 96.5%

Barwa Commercial Avenue W.L.L. Qatar 95% 95%

Qatar Project Management Company Q.P.S.C. Qatar 70% 70%

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for the following new and 
amended IFRS recently issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations effective as of 1 January 2013.

IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income – Amendments to IAS 1
The amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified  
(or ‘recycled’) to profit or loss at a future point in time would be presented separately from items that will never be 
reclassified. The amendment affects presentation only and therefore has no impact on the Group’s financial position 
or performance.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised)
The IASB has issued numerous amendments to IAS 19. These range from fundamental changes such as removing the 
corridor mechanism and the concept of expected returns on plan assets to simple clarifications and re-wording. These 
amendments will not materially impact the Group’s financial position or performance.
 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011)
As a consequence of the new IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, IAS 
28 Investments in Associates, has been renamed IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, and describes 
the application of the equity method to investments in joint ventures in addition to associates. 
 
IFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IFRS 7 
These amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights to set-off financial instruments and 
related arrangements (e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide users with information that is 
useful in evaluating the effect of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The new disclosures are 
required for all recognised financial instruments that are set off in accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation. The disclosures also apply to recognised financial instruments that are subject to an enforceable master 
netting arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with IAS 32. These 
amendments will not impact the Group’s financial position or performance.

IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the 
accounting for consolidated financial statements. It also addresses the issues raised in SIC-12 Consolidation 
-Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all entities including special 
purpose entities. The changes introduced by IFRS 10 will require management to exercise significant judgment to 
determine which entities are controlled and therefore are required to be consolidated by a parent, compared with the 
requirements that were in IAS 27. At the date of initial application of IFRS 10 (1 January 2013), the Group assessed 
that it controls its subsidiaries as per IFRS 10.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 
IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-controlled Entities - Non-monetary 
Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly controlled entities (JCE’s) using 
proportionate consolidation. Instead, JCEs that meet the definition of a joint venture must be accounted for using the 
equity method. This amendment does not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statement.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 includes all of the disclosures that were previously in IAS 27 related to consolidated financial statements, as 
well as all of the disclosures that were previously included in IAS 31 and IAS 28. These disclosures relate to an entity’s 
interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities. A number of new disclosures are 
also required. While the Group has subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests, there are no unconsolidated 
structured entities.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not change 
when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to measure fair value under IFRS when 
fair value is required or permitted. IFRS 13 defines fair value as an exit price. As a result of the guidance in IFRS 13, 
the Group re-assessed its policies for measuring fair values. IFRS 13 also requires additional disclosures. Application of 
IFRS 13 has not materially impacted the fair value measurements of the Group.

Improvements included but do not have any impact on financial position and performance:

•	 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
	 This improvement clarifies the difference between voluntary additional comparative information and the 		
	 minimum required comparative information. Generally, the minimum required comparative information is the 	
	 previous period.

•	 IAS 16 Property plant and equipment 
	 This improvement clarifies that major spare parts and servicing equipment that meet the definition of property,  
	 plant and equipment are not inventory.

•	 IAS 32 Financial Instruments, Presentation 
	 This improvement clarifies that income taxes arising from distributions to equity holders are accounted for in 		
	 accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes.

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s 
financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they 
become effective.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

Topic Key requirements Effective date

IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments

IFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement 

of IAS 39 and applies to classification and measurement of financial assets and 

financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. The standard was initially effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, but Amendments to 

IFRS 9 Mandatory Effective Date of IFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures, issued 

in December 2011, moved the mandatory effective date to 1 January 2015. In 

subsequent phases, the IASB is addressing hedge accounting and impairment 

of financial assets. The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an effect 

on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets, but will 

not have an impact on classification and measurements of the Group’s financial 

liabilities. The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with the other 

phases, when the final standard including all phases is issued.

1 January 2015

Investment Entities 

(Amendments to IFRS 10, 

IFRS 12 and IAS 27)

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2014 provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for 

entities that meet the definition of an investment entity under IFRS 10. 

The exception to consolidation requires investment entities to account for 

subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. It is not expected that this 

amendment would be relevant to the Group, since none of the entities in the 

Group would qualify to be an investment entity under IFRS 10.

1 January 2014

IAS 32 Offsetting 

Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities - 

Amendments to IAS 32

These amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable 

right to set-off ” and the criteria for non-simultaneous settlement mechanisms 

of clearing houses to qualify for offsetting. These are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2014. These amendments are not expected to be 

relevant to the Group.

1 January 2014

IFRIC Interpretation 21 

Levies (IFRIC 21)

IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a liability for a levy when the activity 

that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. For a 

levy that is triggered upon reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation 

clarifies that no liability should be anticipated before the specified minimum 

threshold is reached. IFRIC 21 is effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2014. The Group does not expect that IFRIC 21 will have 

material financial impact in future consolidated financial statements.

1 January 2014

IAS 39 Novation 

of Derivatives and 

Continuation of 

Hedge Accounting – 

Amendments to IAS 39

These amendments provide relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when 

novation of a derivative designated as a hedging instrument meets certain 

criteria. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2014. The Group has not novated its derivatives during the current 

period. However, these amendments would be considered for future novations.

1 January 2014

3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies
Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as  
the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any  
non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the  
non- controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions 
as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition 
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised 
either in consolidated statement of profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent 
consideration is not within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair 
value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the gain is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is 
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation 
when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstance is measured based on the 
relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions 
– that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any 
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in 
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date 
when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as 
an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. 

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group and are presented 
separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement 
of financial position, separately from parent shareholders’ equity. Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is 
attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

Investments in equity accounted investees
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate 
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to 
determine control over subsidiaries.

The Group’s investments in its associates and joint venture are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying 
amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates or joint 
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venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associates or joint venture is included in the carrying amount 
of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associates or joint 
venture. Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a 
change recognised directly in the equity of the associates or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, 
when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between  
the Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is shown on the face of the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and  
non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture.

The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on 
its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective 
evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates 
the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its 
carrying value, then recognises the loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and 
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint 
venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds 
from disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement profit or loss.

Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities based on current/non-current classification. An asset as current when it is: 
•	 Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle
•	 Held primarily for the purpose of trading
•	 Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or
•	 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 		
	 months after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current. A liability is current when:
•	 It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
•	 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
•	 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or
•	 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 		
	 reporting period

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

Fair value measurement
The Group measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives and non-financial assets such as investment properties, at fair 
value at each reporting date. Also, fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 47.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

•	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
•	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole:

•	 Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
•	 Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
	 is directly or indirectly observable

•	 Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
	 is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Group’s management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as 
investment properties and unquoted available-for-sale financial assets, and for non-recurring measurement, such as 
assets held for disposal in discontinued operation. The management comprises of the head of the investment properties 
segment, heads of the Group’s internal mergers and acquisition team, the head of the risk management department, 
chief finance officers and the managers of each property.

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as investment properties and trading properties. 
Involvement of external valuers is decided upon annually by the management after discussion with and approval by 
the Company’s audit committee. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether 
professional standards are maintained. Valuers are normally rotated every three years. The management decides, after 
discussions with the Group’s external valuers, which valuation techniques and inputs to use for each case. 

At each reporting date, the management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are 
required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the management 
verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to 
contracts and other relevant documents.

The management, in conjunction with the Group’s external valuers, also compares each changes in the fair value of each 
asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the 
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at fair value of consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods 
supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue 
can be measured reliably: when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity: and when specific criteria 
have been met for each of the Group’s activities listed below. The Group bases its estimate of refers on historical results taking 
into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Sale of completed property
A property is regarded as sold when the significant risks and returns have been transferred to the buyer, which is 
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normally on unconditional exchange of contracts. For conditional exchanges, sales are recognised only when all the 
significant conditions are satisfied.
 
Sales of property under development
Where property is under development and agreement has been reached to sell such property when construction is 
complete, the management considers whether the contract comprises:

•	 A contract to construct a property
Or
•	 A contract for the sale of a completed property

Where a contract is judged to be for the construction of a property, revenue is recognised using the percentage of 
completion method as construction progresses.

Where the contract is judged to be for the sale of a completed property, revenue is recognised when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the real estate have been transferred to the buyer. If, however, the legal terms of the 
contract are such that the construction represents the continuous transfer of work in progress to the purchaser, the 
percentage-of-completion method of revenue recognition is applied and revenue is recognised as work progresses. 
Continuous transfer of work in progress is applied when: 

•	 The buyer controls the work in progress, typically when the land on which the development takes place is 		
owned by the final customer

And
•	 All significant risks and rewards of ownership of the work in progress in its present state are transferred to the 		
buyer as construction progresses, typically, when buyer cannot put the incomplete property back to the Group.

In such situations, the percentage of work completed is measured based on the costs incurred up until the end of the 
reporting period as a proportion of total costs expected to be incurred.

Rental income
Rental income receivable from operating leases, less the Group’s initial direct costs of entering into the leases, is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, except for contingent rental income which is recognized 
when it arises.

Incentives for lessees to enter into lease agreements are spread evenly over the lease term, even if the payments are not 
made on such a basis. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any further term for which 
the tenant has the option to continue the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the directors are reasonably certain 
that the tenant will exercise that option.

Amounts received from tenants to terminate leases or to compensate for dilapidations are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss when they arise.

Management fee income
Management fee income is recognized based on the terms and conditions of the relevant management agreements 
concluded with external parties to the Group.

Services revenues
Revenues from services rendered is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss by reference to the stage of 
completion of the specific transaction and assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as proportion of the total 
services to be provided.

Construction contracts
Contract revenues includes the initial amounts agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work, claims and 
incentive payments, to the extent that it is probable they will result in revenue and can be measured reliably. As soon 
as the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the contract. Contract expenses are recognized as 
incurred unless they create an asset related to future contract activity.

The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed. When the outcome of a construction 
contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognized only to the extent of contract costs incurred that 
are likely to be recoverable. An expected loss on a contract is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss.

Consulting revenues 
Consulting revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
excluding discounts, rebates and duty. The specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive the dividend is established.

Finance income
Finance income is recognized on a time apportionment basis using the effective profit rate method. 

Trading properties
Trading properties are real estate properties (including non-developed plots of land) developed which are readily available 
for sale and those properties under development for sale which are in construction phase. These are held for sale in the 
ordinary course of business are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, based on market prices at the reporting date and discount for time value of 
money if material, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

Cost include:
•	 Freehold and leasehold rights for land
•	 Amounts paid to contractors for construction
•	 Borrowing costs, planning & design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees, property transfer taxes, 		
	 construction overhead and other related costs. 

Non refundable commission paid to sales or working agents on the sale of real estate units are expensed when paid.

Cost of trading properties recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is determined with references to 
specific costs incurred on the property sold and an allocation of any relative size of the property sold.

Investment properties
Investment property comprises completed property and property under construction or re-development that is held to 
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Property held under a lease is classified as investment property when the 
definition of an investment property is met.

Investment property is measured initially at cost including transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer taxes, 
professional fees for legal services and initial leasing commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary for 
it to be capable of operating. The carrying amount also includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment 
property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the 
fair values are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year in which they arise. For the purposes of 
these consolidated financial statements, in order to avoid double accounting, the assessed fair value is:

•	 Reduced by the carrying amount of any accrued income resulting from the spreading of lease incentives
	 and/or minimum lease payments
•	 Increased by the carrying amount of any liability to the superior leaseholder or freeholder that has been
	 recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation

Investment property is derecognised when it has been disposed of or permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of investment property are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Gains or losses on the disposal of investment property are determined as the difference between net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying value of the asset in the previous full period consolidated financial statements.
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Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the end of owner 
occupation or commencement of an operating lease. Transfers are made from investment property when, and only 
when, there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of owner occupation or commencement of development 
with a view to sale.

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is remeasured to fair 
value and reclassified as investment property. Any gain arising on remeasurement is recognised directly in equity as a 
revaluation surplus. Any loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied property or trading properties, the 
property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting in accordance with IAS 16 or IAS 2 shall be its fair value at the date  
of change in use.

For a transfer from trading properties to investment property that will be carried at fair value, any difference between 
the fair value of the property at that date and its previous carrying amount shall be recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working 
condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they 
are located. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of 
related equipment.

Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of 
the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the 
lease term. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of the depreciable assets are as follows:

Buildings 20 years

Furniture and fixtures 3-7 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Computers software and hardware 3-5 years

Office equipment 3 years

Leasehold improvements 3 years

Cooling plant 25 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying 
values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount. 

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for 
separately is capitalized and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Other subsequent 
expenditure is capitalized only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of property, plant and 
equipment. All other expenditure is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as the expense is incurred. 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognized.

Financial instruments 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity.

Financial assets
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, 
as appropriate. All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at 
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets with in a time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances 
and bank deposits with original maturities of three months or less, unrestricted balances held with banks, and highly 
liquid financial assets with original maturities ranging three to six months, which are subject to insignificant risk 
of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts and restricted bank balances. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified as fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is designated as 
such upon initial recognition. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and 
transactions costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and subsequent changes in fair value are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

loans and other receivables
loans and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and other receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective profit 
method, less any impairment losses. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. 

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of 
other categories. Available for sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs. After initial 
recognition, available for sale financial assets are subsequently remeasured at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss 
directly recognised as a separate component of equity under other comprehensive income until the investment is sold, 
collected, or the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in 
equity is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for that year. Profit earned on the investments is reported 
as profit income using the effective profit rate. Dividends earned on investments are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss as “Dividend income” when the right to receive dividend has been established. All regular way 
purchases and sales of investment are recognised on the trade date when the Group becomes or commit to be a party to 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to 
quoted market bid prices at the close of business at the end of the reporting period. For investments where there is 
no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s 
length market transactions, reference to current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same, 
discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models. For investment in funds, fair value is determined by reference 
to net asset values provided by the fund administrators.

Due to the uncertain nature of cash flows arising from the certain of the Group’s unquoted equity investments, the fair 
value of these investments cannot be reliably measured. Consequently, these investments are carried at cost, less any 
impairment losses.

If an available-for-sale investment is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost and its current 
fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, is transferred 
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from equity to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss are not subsequently reversed. Reversals of impairment losses on debt 
instruments are reversed through the consolidated statement of profit or loss; if the increase in fair value of the 
instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. 

Derecognition
When the investment is disposed off, the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded in equity is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily 
derecognised (i.e. removed from the group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

•	 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
•	 The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay 		
	 the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; 		
	 and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group 		
	 has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 		
	 control of the asset

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset,  
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, 
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a 
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and financing, payables, or as derivatives designated as 
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and financing and payables, net of 
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and financing including bank overdrafts,  
and derivative financial instruments.

Non-derivative financial liabilities
The Group initially recognises financial liabilities on the date that they are originated which is the date that the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net 
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial 
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective profit method. Other financial 
liabilities comprise obligations under Islamic finance contracts, due to related parties, bank overdrafts, and trade and 
other payables.

Accounts payable and accruals
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for services received or when the risks and rewards 
associated with goods are transferred to the Group, whether billed by the supplier or not. 

Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective profit method. 

Obligations under Islamic financing contracts
Obligations under Islamic financing contracts are recognized initially at fair value of the consideration received, less 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, those obligations are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective profit rate method. 

Gains or losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well  
as through the amortization process. Finance cost and other related charges are recognized as an expense when incurred. 

Fees paid on the establishment of Islamic facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the financing to the extent that 
it is probable some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. 
To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee  
is capitalised as prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. When 
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured 
at fair value, and changes therein are recognized as described below for those derivative instruments designated for 
hedging cash flows, while changes in the fair value of derivative instruments not designated for cash flow hedges are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is 
recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within ‘net finance costs’.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the periods when the 
hedged item affects profit or loss (for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). The gain or loss relating 
to the effective portion of profit rate swaps hedging variable rate financing is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss within ‘finance income/cost’. However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition 
of a non-financial asset (for example, inventory or fixed assets), the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are 
transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are 
ultimately recognised in cost of goods sold in the case of inventory or in depreciation in the case of fixed assets.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction 
is ultimately recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss within ‘net finance costs’.

Net investment hedge
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges.

Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when 
the foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold.
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Derivative financial instruments
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that 
are attributable to the hedged risk. The Group only applies fair value hedge accounting for hedging fixed profit risk on 
financing. The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of profit rate swaps hedging fixed rate financing is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within ‘net finance costs’. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within ‘net finance costs’. Changes in the fair value of 
the hedge fixed rate financing attributable to profit rate risk are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
within ‘net finance costs’. If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying 
amount of a hedged item for which the effective profit method is used is amortised to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss over the period to maturity.

Impairment
Financial assets 
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred 
only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the 
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in profit or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where observable data 
indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been 
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective profit rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. If a loan or held-to-maturity 
investment has a variable profit rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective profit 
rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an 
instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal  
of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Assets classified as available for sale
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired. If any 
such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between 
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss . Impairment losses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on equity instruments 
are not reversed through the consolidated statement of profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt 
instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed 
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 

inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets  
(the “cash-generating unit”). 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on 
a pro rata basis. Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization,  
if no impairment loss had been recognized.

Share capital
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Repurchase, disposal and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly 
attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as 
treasury shares and are presented in its own equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount 
received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is presented 
separately in the equity.

Financing costs
Financing costs are finance cost and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 
The Group capitalizes financing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. A qualifying asset for finance cost capitalization is an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. The Group recognizes other 
borrowing costs as an expense in the period incurred.

The Group begins capitalizing financing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset on the commencement date.  
The commencement date for capitalization is the date when the Group first meets all of the following conditions: 
(a)	 incurs expenditures for the asset; 
(b)	 incurs borrowing costs; and 
(c)	 undertakes activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.

To the extent that the Group borrows funds specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the Group 
determines the amount of financing costs eligible for capitalization as the actual financing costs incurred on that 
financing during the period less any investment income on the temporary investment of those financings, if any. 

The financing costs applicable to the financing of the Group that are outstanding during the period, other than those 
specific financing mentioned above as made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualified asset, are capitalized by 
applying a capitalization rate to the expenditures on that asset.

The amount of financing costs that the Group capitalizes during the period is not to exceed the amount of financing costs 
it incurred during that period. The Group suspends capitalization of borrowing costs during extended periods in which 
it suspends active development of a qualifying asset, and ceases capitalizing borrowing costs when substantially all the 
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete.

Tenant deposits
Tenant deposits liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost where 
material. Any difference between the initial fair value and the nominal amount is included as a component of operating 
lease income and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 
at inception date, whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

67Financial Report 2013 for Barwa Real Estate Company Q.S.C.Financial Report 2013 for Barwa Real Estate Company Q.S.C.66
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 DECEMBER 2013

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 DECEMBER 2013



Group as a lessor
Leases where the Group transfer substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the leased item 
are classified as finance leases and are presented as receivables at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. 
Net investment in the lease is the gross investment in the lease discounted at the profit rate implicit in the lease. Income 
from finance leases in which the Company is a lessor is recognised based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate 
of return on the Group’s net investment in the finance lease. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in 
which they are earned.

Group as a lessee
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased 
item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value 
of the minimum lease payments.

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and the reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve 
a constant rate of profit on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss as they arise. The property plant and equipment acquired under finance lease is depreciated 
over the shorter of the useful lives and of the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of the ownership are retained by the lessor are classified 
as operating leases, unless they are leases of investment property (see investment property). Operating lease payments 
are recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term, 
except for contingent rental payments which are expensed when they arise.

Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in provision due to passage of 
time is recognised as net finance costs.

Intangible asset 
Intangible asset acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible asset acquired in 
a business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible asset is carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The useful life of intangible asset is assessed as indefinite. Intangible asset with indefinite useful life are not amortised, 
but are tested for impairment annually, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of 
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not,  
the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

Employees’ end of service benefits
The Group provides end of service benefits to its Qatari and expatriate employees in accordance with Qatar labor law.  
The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees’ final basic salary and length of service, subject to the 
completion of minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment.

With respect to its national employees, the Group makes contributions to the General Pension Fund Authority 
calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions,  
which are expensed when due.

Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries operate and 
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in 
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax 
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred income tax is not accounted 
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at 
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except 
for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to 
settle the balances on a net basis.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in ‘Qatari Riyals’ (”QR”), which is the Group’s presentational currency. 

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except when 
deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses that relate to financing and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss within ‘finance income or costs’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss within ‘net finance costs’.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available for sale are analysed 
between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying 
amount of the security. Translation differences related to changes in amortised cost are recognised in the consolidated 
statement profit or loss , and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised in the consolidated statement profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation 
differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as equities classified as available for sale, are included in the 
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income.

Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation 
currency as follows:
(a)	 assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the 		

	 date of that financial position;
(b)	 income and expenses for each consolidated statement of profit or loss are translated at average exchange 		

	 rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing 		
	 on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the 		
	 transactions); and

(c)	 all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
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Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by 
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable 
to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees, if any.

Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other 
components, whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Top Management (being the chief operating 
decision maker) to make decisions about resources allocated to each segment and assess its performance, and for which 
discrete financial information is available.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached 
conditions will be complied with. Unconditional government grant related to income are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss at the fair value when the grant becomes receivable. 

Other government grants are recognised initially as deferred income when there is reasonable assurance that they will 
be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. Grants that compensate  
the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis in 
the same periods in which the expenses are recognised. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of a depreciable 
asset are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset, 
while grants compensating the Group for assets under development are directly deducted from the carrying amount of 
the related asset. Government grant related to non-monetary assets are initially recognized at nominal amount.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 
The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered 
principally through a sale rather than through continuing use. Such non-current assets and disposal groups classified as 
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

Property, plant and equipment are not depreciated once classified as held for sale.

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the statement of financial position.

A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is: 
•	 A component of the Group that is a CGU or a group of CGUs
•	 Classified as held for sale or already disposed in such a way, or
•	 A major line of business or major geographical area

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single amount as 
profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative consolidated statement of profit or loss or 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income is represented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start 
of the comparative year.

Additional disclosures are provided in Note 11. All other notes to the consolidated financial statements mainly include 
amounts for continuing operations, unless otherwise mentioned.

Dividend
The Company recognises a liability to make cash distributions to equity holders of the parent when the distribution is 
authorised and the distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Company. As per the Qatar Commercial Companies 
Law No. 5 of 2002, a distribution is authorised when it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is 
recognised directly in equity.

4.4 BUSINESS COMBINATION
No acquisitions took place during the year ended 31 December 2013. 

Acquisition during the year ended 31 December 2012 

4.1 Acquisition of non-controlling interest in Barwa Al-Doha Real Estate Company W.L.L.
On 31 August 2012, the Group acquired an additional stake of 35% of the voting rights and increased its ownership to 
100% in Barwa Al-Doha Real Estate Company W.L.L. The net consideration for the acquisition amounted to QR 60,557 
thousand. The carrying value of the net assets immediately prior to the additional acquisition of Barwa Al-Doha Real 
Estate Company W.L.L., was QR 20,239 thousand and the share of carrying value of the additional interest acquired  
was QR 7,084 thousand. The excess of the consideration over the carrying values of net assets acquired amounting to  
QR 53,473 thousand has been recognised in retained earnings within equity.

4.2 Step acquisition of Asas Real Estate Company W.L.L 
During the year 2012, Qatar Real Estate Investment Company P.J.S.C. a fully owned subsidiary of the Group acquired 
the residual 50% of shareholding interest in its previous associate, Asas Real Estate Company W.L.L. (“ASAS”) under  
the share purchase agreement concluded with the previous shareholders.

ASAS’ assets mainly consist of investment properties that were fair valued at the date of acquisition. The purchase 
consideration was for the fair value of the assets and therefore there was no additional valuation for obtaining control 
over the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and resulting loss on previously held interest
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of ASAS recognised as a result of the acquisition were as follows:

Fair value of  

assets and  

liabilities  

acquired

QR’000

Cash and bank balances 11,465

Available-for-sale financial assets 25,876

Receivables and other assets 5,050

Property, plant and equipment 931

Investment properties (Note 15) 2,550,542

2,593,864

Less: Liabilities (35,768)

Fair value of net identifiable assets at the date of acquisition 2,558,096

Fair value of previously held interest in ASAS (50% of net assets above) 1,279,048

Less: Carrying amount of previous interest in associate at date of acquisition (1,275,918)

Less: Fair value reserve of available-for-sale financial assets of associate at the date of acquisition (3,363)

Loss on previously held interest in ASAS (233)

Cash flow from the acquisition

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary 11,465

Add: Cash received as settlement from the previous shareholder 164,840

176,305

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
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5.5 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following balances:

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000
Cash in hand 352 507

Short term deposits 157,953 75,177

Current accounts balances 194,368 168,969
Call accounts balances 601,664 419,299
Margin bank account 999 1,562

Total cash and bank balances 955,336 665,514

Cash and bank balances attributable to discontinued operations 1,868 8,256

Short term bank deposits maturing after 3 months (127,953) (60,677)

Restricted bank balances (999) (1,562)

Cash and cash equivalents 828,252 611,531

Notes:
(i)	 Cash and cash equivalents include fixed deposits with maturity dates from one to three months amounting to 		
	 QR 30,000 thousand (2012: QR 14,500 thousand). 
(ii)	 Short term deposits are made for varying periods depending on the immediate cash requirements of the  
	 Group with original maturity period ranging three to six months and the profit rates at commercial market rates.

6.6 RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS
Receivables and prepayments are segregated between non-current and current portion as follows:
2013 Non-current

QR’000

Current

QR’000

Total

QR’000

Trade receivables (net) 660 369,900 370,560

Prepaid expenses 56,212 68,829 125,041

Accrued income 1,547 93,932 95,479

Refundable deposits 6,693 6,545 13,238

Staff receivables (net) 9,341 3,888 13,229

Positive fair value of derivative financial instruments  

(Note 26)
- 2,988 2,988

Dividends and profit on Islamic financial deposits - 69 69

Fair value of the call option (Note 16 (v)) - - -

Other receivables (net) 93,506 188,248 281,754

167,959 734,399 902,358

2012 Non-current

QR’000

Current

QR’000

Total

QR’000

Trade receivables (net) - 388,324 388,324

Prepaid expenses 109,369 74,832 184,201

Accrued income  - 26,887 26,887

Refundable deposits 3,978 15,208 19,186

Staff receivables (net) 9,708 3,113 12,821

Positive fair value of derivative financial instruments  

(Note 26)
- - -

Dividends and profit on Islamic financial deposits - 2,961 2,961

Fair value of the call option (Note 16 (v)) - 21,469 21,469

Other receivables (net) - 64,740 64,740

123,055 597,534 720,589

As at 31 December 2013, trade receivables amounting to QR 27,426 thousand (2012: QR 16,911 thousand) were 
impaired and fully provided for. 

Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables is as follows:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

At 1 January 16,911 8,093
Allowance made for the year 10,924 8,818
Written off (409) -

At 31 December 27,426 16,911

At 31 December, the ageing of unimpaired trade receivables is as follows:
Past due but not impaired

Total

QR’000

Neither 

past 

due nor 

impaired

QR’000

0 – 30 days

QR’000

31 – 60 

days

QR’000

61 – 90 

days

QR’000

91- 120 

days

QR’000

>121 days

QR’000

2013 370,560 286,455 4,009 3,907 2,745 25,914 47,530
2012 388,324 111,729 49,647 61,992 5,994 28,900 130,062

Unimpaired receivables are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully recoverable.

7.7 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Non-current portion:

Finance leases - gross receivables 3,039,177 3,655,961

Unearned finance income (847,830) (1,147,945)

Net non-current portion of finance lease receivables 2,191,347 2,508,016

Current portion:

Finance leases - gross receivables 616,826 620,990

Unearned finance income (300,115) (336,777)

Net current portion of finance lease receivables 316,711 284,213

Net investment in finance leases 2,508,058 2,792,229

 Contractual maturities of the finance lease receivables are as follows:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000
Gross receivables from finance leases: 
Not later than 1 year 616,826 620,990 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2,329,953 2,418,881 

Later than 5 years 709,224 1,237,080 

3,656,003 4,276,951

Unearned finance income (1,147,945) (1,484,722)

Net investment in finance leases 2,508,058 2,792,229

Movement in finance lease receivables during the year is as follows:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000
At 1 January 2,792,229 3,056,434

Installments due and collected during the year (488,517) (851,814)

Transferred (to) from trade receivables (132,431) 190,883

Finance lease income 336,777 396,726

At 31 December 2,508,058 2,792,229
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The above balances relates to the Group’s 100% owned subsidiary Qatar Real Estate Investment Company P.J.S.C.  
(“Al Aqaria”). The minimum lease receipts are discounted at the implicit rates as mentioned in the lease agreements. 
Income from finance leases is recognized based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s 
net investment in the finance leases.
 
Finance lease receivables are unsecured. Included in the gross finance lease receivables an amount of QR 1,068,702 
thousand pledged as security against the Islamic Facility “Sukuk Al Musharakah” amounting to USD 270 million  
(QR 983 million) at 31 December 2013 (2012: QR 1,287,000 thousand finance lease receivables pledge against the 
Islamic Facility “Sukuk Al Musharakah” which amounted to USD 270 million (QR 983 million)).
 
As at 31 December 2013, 81% (2012: 81%) of the total finance lease receivables balance is due from a single customer.

8.8 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Related parties represent non-controlling interests in subsidiaries, associated companies, entities where the Group 
is one of their founders, major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Group, and entities 
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions 
are approved by the Group’s management.

Related party transactions
Transactions with related parties during the year are as follows:

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries (Note 34) (During 2012, the Group received  

QR 3,736,032 thousand as an advance for the disposal of subsidiaries) 6,109,011 13,232,035

Reconciliation / settlement of an Islamic Financing Facility obtained from a related 

party with the consideration for the disposal of subsidiaries 5,808,454 13,201,035

Proceeds from sale of an associate (Note 11) 2,389,849 -

Reconciliation of payable to a related party on exercising call option (Note 16 (v)) 730,941 -

Advances received from a related party for disposal of assets 65,636 -

Profit on Islamic Financing Facility extended to a related party - 168,360

Consideration paid on acquisition of non-controlling interest of a subsidiary - 305,868

Advances received from a related party for disposal of subsidiaries - 3,736,032

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment to an associate company 8,421 -

Income from consultancy and other services 177,223 163,119

Rental income 14,298 31,678

Finance costs  36,369  482,459

Related party balances
Balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

Due from related parties Due to related parties

2013

QR’000

2012

QR’000

2013

QR’000

2012

QR’000
Qatari Diar Real Estate Investment 

Company Q.S.C. 
- - 285,577 6,903,989

Associate companies 155,320 109,034 16,628 127,737

Non-controlling interest - 2,359 21,778 21,628

Affiliated entities 17,932 17,478 49,668 34,558
Other related parties 2,707,230 2,595,420 11,625 3,927

2,880,482 2,724,291 385,276 7,091,839

Current and non-current portions of due from and due to related parties are as follows:
Due from related parties Due to related parties

2013

QR’000

2012

QR’000

2013

QR’000

2012

QR’000
Non-current 109,864 105,234 22,352 137,622

Current 2,770,618 2,619,057 362,924 6,954,217

2,880,482 2,724,291 385,276 7,091,839

Compensation of directors and other key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Board of Directors’ remuneration (iii) 6,400 26,820

Total key management staff benefits (Group basis) 62,110 51,292

68,510 78,112

Notes:
	 (i)	 Due to related parties include an Islamic financing facilities obtained from a related party amounting to  

	 QR 1,300,049 thousand (31 December 2012: QR 1,281,515 thousand). This facility is non-secured and carries 	
	 fixed and variable profit rates.

	 (ii)	 Due from related parties include an Islamic financing facility extended to a related party group of companies 		
	 operating in the State of Qatar amounting to QR 2,662,621 thousand (31 December 2012: 2,555,363 		
	 thousand). The facility carries profit at commercial rates. The Group has obtained a guarantee from a 		
	 related party on the recoverability of the above Islamic financing facility. The management is of the 		
	 opinion that this Islamic financing facility balance is not impaired and will be fully recovered from the 		
	 related party group of companies or from the related party who provided the guarantee. 
(iii)	 Except for the balance noted in (i) above, all outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured, free of  
	 finance cost and the settlement occurs in cash and no guarantees provided or received for 			 
	 outstanding balances at reporting date. For the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Group 		
	 carried out an impairment testing for due from related parties and recognized an impairment allowance 		
	 of QR 19,035 thousand (2012: Nil). In the opinion of the management, based on recent available 			
	 information, there is no evidence of further impairment in the value of due from related parties. This 		
	 assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of the related party 		
	 and the market in which the related party operates.

	 (iv)	 The Directors’ remuneration for the year 2013 represents a proposed amount of QR 6,400 thousand subject 		
	 to the approval of the company’s Annual General Assembly that will be held on 8 April 2014 (2012:  
	 QR 14,500 thousand, the shareholders of the Company approved at the Annual General Meeting held on  
	 2 April 2013 Directors’ remuneration amounting to QR 3,500 thousand). Up to the year ended  
	 31 December 2010, the Directors’ remuneration was appropriated through equity and starting year ended  
	 31 December 2012 the Directors remuneration is charged to consolidated statements of profit or loss. 

	 (v)	 On 5 November 2013, the Group entered in to a framework agreement with a related party to dispose certain 		
	 trading properties, investments in equity accounted investees, investment properties, property, plant and 		
	 equipment and available-for-sale financial assets which are more explained in Note 11 to the consolidated 		
	 financial statements. Before 31 December 2013, the Group has disposed one of its associate companies.

9.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Investments in equity securities
Quoted 8,776 6,704

1010 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Disposal of subsidiaries during 2013
On 16 October 2012, the Group announced the decision of its Board of Directors to dispose off its ownership in Barwa 
Egypt Group to a related party. The Barwa Egypt Group consists of Barwa Egypt Real Estate S.A.E and its subsidiaries; 
Barwa New Cairo for Real Estate Development S.A.E, Barwa Egypt for Real Estate Development S.A.E and  
Tarek Fouad Sayed El Shazly and Partners. The operations of Barwa Egypt Group have been classified as a  
discontinued operation in 2012. 

7.	 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued)
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The business of Barwa Egypt Group was included in the real estate operating segment. On 26 February 2013, the Group 
completed the disposal of Barwa Egypt Group. The net realisable value of the net assets of Barwa Egypt Group that was 
disposed off amounted to QR 5,612,548 thousand, which resulted in an actual gain on disposal amounted to  
QR 232,327 thousand (after the effect of translation reserve amounting to QR 264,136 thousand) as more explained in 
Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Liquidation of a subsidiary during 2013
In a shareholders’ meeting held on 8 April 2013, the Group has resolved to shut down the operations and voluntarily 
liquidate TAS Qatar L.L.C. as the subsidiary company completed the project that was established for. As at 31 December 
2013, the liquidation is in progress and all assets are carried at the lower of their recoverable amounts and their carrying 
values and liabilities that might be expected are provided for. 

Disposal of subsidiaries during 2012
During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group disposed off the following subsidiaries and accordingly lost the 
control over these entities as more explained in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

	 a)	 Barwa Luxembourg S.A.R.L 
	 b)	 Marafeq Qatar Company W.L.L. 

The expenses and results of the subsidiaries classified as discontinued operations during the year were as follows:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

EXPENSES

General and administrative expenses (1,222) (19,044)

Net finance costs (195,499) (218)
Depreciation (Note 19) (175) (1,545)
Other income 25 1,988

Loss before income tax (196,871) (18,819)

Income tax (Note 21) - 106

Loss for the period from 

discontinued operations (196,871) (18,713)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of subsidiaries classified as held for sale as at reporting date were as follows:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Assets

Cash and bank balances 1,868 8,256

Receivables and prepayments - 817

Properties under development (Note 14) - 5,771,474

Property, plant and equipment - 2,325

Assets of subsidiaries classified as held for sale 1,868 5,782,872

Liabilities

Payables and other liabilities (612) (10,883)

End of service benefits - (657)

Liabilities of subsidiaries classified as held for sale (612) (11,540)

Net assets of subsidiaries held for sale 1,256 5,771,332

As the Barwa Egypt Group was disposed off prior to 31 December 2013, the related assets and liabilities classified as 
part of the discontinued operation as at 31 December 2012 are no longer included in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2013.

1111 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
On 5 November 2013, the Group and Qatari Diar Real Estate Investment Company Q.S.C. (“QD”) (“related party”) entered 
into a framework agreement to sell investment properties, property, plant and equipment, investments in associates and 
available-for-sale financial assets (the “Assets”). As per the framework agreement, the assets shall be sold, transferred and/
or assigned by the Group to QD through separate sale and purchase agreements (“SPA’s”) to be entered into in respect of 

each individual Asset at future dates. QD will at its sole discretion either acquire the Assets directly or it will incorporate a 
SPV within the State of Qatar to acquire the Assets, which will either directly own the Assets or acquire the shares of the 
companies holding the underlying Assets. As of 31 December 2013, the negotiation for the sale were in progress.  
The disposal of these assets is planned to be completed within twelve months from the reporting date and accordingly,  
the Group has classified the Assets as non-current assets held for sale.

During the year 2012, the Group entered into an agreement with a third party to dispose off one of the subsidiaries’ 
investment property and property, plant and equipment at market value. The disposal transaction was completed 
during the current year and the profit on disposal of non-current assets held for sale is disclosed in Note 33 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Carrying value of non-current assets held for sale are as follows; 
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Investment properties, net of impairment (i), (iv), (v) and (Note 15) 3,289,522 370,095

Property, plant and equipment (Note 19) 432,927 3,761
Investments in associate (ii) and (Note 16 (ii) and (v)) 484,746 -

Available-for-sale financial assets (i), (iii) and (Note 13) 137,057 -

4,344,252 373,856

Notes:
(i)	 As at 31 December 2013, non-current assets held for sale amounting to QR 8,824 thousand (2012:  
	 QR 31,832 thousand) were impaired and fully provided for (Note 39).
(ii)	 On 30 December 2013, the Group disposed it’s share in an associate to a related party and recognised a 		
	 profit on disposal amounting to QR 336,548 thousand (31 December 2012: Nil). 
(iii)	 As at 31 December 2013, the Group reclassified previously classified trading properties and available-for- 
	 sale financial assets amounted to QR 16,931,832 thousand and QR 24,665 thousand (31 December 			
	 2012: QR Nil) from non-current assets held for sale to trading properties and available-for-sale financial 		
	 assets respectively. 
(iv)	 Subsequent to the reporting date the Group received an advance in the amounts of QR 744,000 thousand 		
	 for the disposal of one of its investment property located in Lusail, State of Qatar.
(v)	 Included in investment properties are certain properties with a carrying value of QR 1,865,134 thousand 		
	 at 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: Nil) for which the title deeds will be transferred upon completing 		
	 the project. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the beneficial 		
	 nterest of these investment properties resides with the Group and the Group has the full rights to sell them.

1212 ADVANCES FOR PROJECTS AND INVESTMENTS
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Advances for purchase of properties (i) and (ii) 162,721 560,220
Advances against exchange of land (iv) 1,836,459 1,836,459
Advances to subcontractors and suppliers 413,014 517,349

2,412,194 2,914,028
Less: allowance for impairment of advances (iii) (2,094,865) (2,317,030)

317,329 596,998

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Non-current 760 -
Current 316,569 596,998

317,329 596,998

 Notes:
(i)	 On 10 January 2012, the Group and the other party signed an agreement to transfer the advances paid for 		
	 purchase of properties to Lusail Golf Development L.L.C. (a joint venture of the Group) as more explained in 	
	 Note 50 (i) (b). 
(ii)	 During the current year the Group has entered into a formal agreement with a counter party to recover 		
	 QR 227,965 thousand (United Arab Emirates Dirhams 230,000 thousand) against the previously fully 		
	 impaired advance. The amount is receivable in thirty equal monthly instalments starting from 1 July 2013. 		

10.	DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)
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Movements in the property under development during the year were as follows:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

At 1 January 11,440,245 37,902,634

Additions (i) 1,361,800 2,376,394

Transferred from advances for projects and investments 10,366 -

On disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) - (13,206,195)

Disposal (ii) - (2,604,384)

Capitalised finance cost (iii) and (Note 38) 105,999 1,051,333

Transferred to properties available for sale (9,145,108) (7,507,406)

Transferred to property plant and equipment (Note 19) - (222,629)

Transferred to investment properties (Note 15) - (207,398)

Transferred to assets of subsidiaries classified as held for sale (Note 10) - (5,771,474)

Impairment loss (iv) and (Note 39) (57,337) (87,000)

Reversal of impairment (Note 39) - 4,288

Exchange adjustment 1,244 (287,918)

At 31 December 3,717,209 11,440,245

Notes:
(i)	 During the year 2012, certain plots of land ownership was transferred to the Group by the Government of 		
	 State of Qatar. The transfer was considered as a government grant and recognized at a nominal value of  
	 QR 1 for each plot of land. Initially these plots of lands were leased to the Group for 99 years and as a result of 	
	 transfer of ownership the lease contracts were terminated.
(ii)	 Included in these disposals during the year 2012 is an agreement that the Group has finalised with a third a  
	 party to dispose one of its projects under development for which the total book value at the date of 			
	 transaction was QR 2,278,734 thousand (2013: Nil). 
(iii)	 Capitalized finance cost is calculated based on the actual qualifying expenditures related to the properties 		
	 under development. Finance cost is capitalised using the Group’s weighted average finance cost.
(iv)	 The Group undertook impairment testing exercise of the cost of its trading properties at year end. Cash 		
	 generating units used for the impairment testing were determined for each project. Local and foreign 		
	 accredited property appraisers were engaged to provide relevant commercial and marketing input to this  
	 process and to advise on current market trends in areas such as achievable market prices. The impairment 		
	 exercise revealed that the fair values less costs to sell being the recoverable amounts were higher than the 		
	 carrying amount of the properties under development at 31 December 2013 except for one of the properties 		
	 under development for which an impairment allowances has been made. On 5 November 2013, the Group 		
	 signed a framework agreement with a related party to dispose two of its trading properties. As at  
	 31 December 2013, the fair values less costs to sell being the recoverable amounts were higher than the 		
	 carrying amount of those trading properties. 

	 During the current year the Group received QR 45,592 thousand (United Arab Emirates Dirhams 46,000 		
	 thousand) and the remaining balance is receivable in twenty four equal monthly instalments. As a result,  
	 the Group reversed previously recorded allowance for impairment amounting to QR 215,168 thousand  
	 (31 December 2012: Nil) discounted using an effective profit rate which has been recognised as other income 	
	 and the remaining receivable balance amounting to QR 169,576 thousand (31 December 2012: Nil) is 		
	 classified under receivables and prepayments. 
(iii)	 The movement in the allowance for impairment of advances is as follows:

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

At 1 January 2,317,030 2,317,030
Impairment allowance provided for the year (Note 39) 1,837 -
Reversal of impairment allowance (224,002) -

At 31 December 2,094,865 2,317,030

(iv)	 During the year 2008, the Government of Qatar took over a piece of land located in Al-Khour district which 		
	 was owned by the Group and other related parties. The Government committed to provide another plot of  
	 land located in Salwa district in exchange of the withdrawn land. The Group paid the above advances to a  
	 related party, in order for the Group to fully own the new land that will be received from the Government. 		
	 Since the year 2008, the Group management has been working with the Government authorities to identify 		
	 the plot of land that shall be transferred to the Group. However, all the efforts during this period have not 		
	 resulted in any conclusive direction of when and where the land will be received and therefore during the 		
	 year 2012, the Group management, on a conservative basis decided to make a full provision against these 		
	 advances as doubtful of recovery. The Group will continue to pursue the matter with the Government for an 		
	 amicable settlement. 
(v)	 As at 31 December 2013, the Group has transferred advances for projects and investments amounted to  
	 QR 211,802 thousand to investment properties (31 December 2012: Nil) (Note 15).

1313 AVAILABLE–FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Investments in equity securities
Quoted 106,938 138,619
Unquoted 101,067 227,787

208,005 366,406

Notes:
(i)	 As at 31 December 2013, the Group has transferred available-for-sale financial assets amounting to  
	 QR 161,722 thousand to non-current assets held for sale (31 December 2012: Nil). As at 31 December 2013,  
	 the Group reclassified previously classified available-for-sale financial assets amounted to QR 24,665  
	 (31 December 2012: Nil) from non-current assets held for sale to available-for-sale financial assets (Note 11).
(ii)	 At 31 December 2013, certain unquoted equity investments amounting to QR 101,067 thousand 
	 (2012: QR 227,787 thousand) are carried at cost less impairment due to non-availability of quoted market prices  
	 or other reliable measures of their fair value.
(iii)	 During the year the Group carried out an impairment testing for the un-quoted available for sale financial 		
	 assets and recognized an impairment loss of QR 875 thousand (2012: QR 67,217 thousand) for the current 		
	 financial year. In the opinion of the management, based on recent available information, there is no evidence 	
	 of further impairment in the value of the available-for-sale financial assets (Note 39).

1414 TRADING PROPERTIES 
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Properties available for sale 16,101,633 6,956,524
Properties under development 3,717,209 11,440,245

19,818,842 18,396,769

12.	ADVANCES FOR PROJECTS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)
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Type of properties
Valuation 

technique

Significant 

unobservable inputs

Range 

(weighted 

average)

 Commercial properties DCF method
Estimated rental value 

per sqm per month
200-254

Rent growth p.a. 2%-3%
Long-term vacancy rate 3%-10%
Discount rate 6%-8%

 Residential properties DCF method
Estimated rental value 

per sqm per month
110-123

Rent growth p.a. 2%-3%
Long-term vacancy rate 3%-5%
Discount rate 6%-8%

Under the DCF method, fair value is estimated using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of ownership 
over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value. This method involves the projection of a series of cash flows on 
a real property interest. To this projected cash flow series, a market-derived discount rate is applied to establish the 
present value of the income stream associated with the asset. The exit yield is normally separately determined and 
differs from the discount rate.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows and outflows are determined by events such as rent 
reviews, lease renewal and related re-letting, redevelopment, or refurbishment. The appropriate duration is typically 
driven by market behavior that is a characteristic of the class of real property. Periodic cash flow is typically estimated 
as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable expenses, collection losses, lease incentives, maintenance cost, agent and 
commission costs and other operating and management expenses. The series of periodic net operating income, along 
with an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection period, is then discounted.

Significant increases (decreases) in estimated rental value and rent growth per annum in isolation would result in a 
significantly higher (lower) fair value of the properties. Significant increases (decreases) in long-term vacancy rate and 
discount rate (and exit yield) in isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value. Generally, a change in 
the assumption made for the estimated rental value is accompanied by:
•	 A directionally similar change in the rent growth per annum and discount rate (and exit yield)
•	 An opposite change in the long term vacancy rate

1616 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
The Group has the following investment in associates:

Nature of operation
Country of 

incorporation
Ownership

2013 2012
Asas Real Estate Company  

W.L.L. (i)
Real Estate Development Qatar 100% 100%

Ottomon Gayrimenkul A.S. Real Estate Development Turkey 50% 50%

Regency Residential UK Limited Real Estate Development United Kingdom 50% 50%

Smeet Investment Company W.L.L. Manufacturing Qatar 43.86% 43.86%

Tanween Company W.L.L. Real Estate Development Qatar 40% 40%

Nuzul Holding Company B.S.C.C. Real Estate Development Bahrain 39% 39%

Panceltica Holding Limited (ii) Real Estate Development United Kingdom 26% 26%

Al Imtiaz Investment Company 

(K.S.C) (ii)
Investment Kuwait 24.5% 24.5%

Barwa Bank Q.S.C. (ii) and (v) Banking Qatar - 23.76%
Emdad Leasing  

Equipment Company 
Leasing Qatar 22.08% 22.08%

Bin Laden Group (QD – CPC) (ii) Contracting & Trading Qatar 21.5% 21.5%

Bin Laden Group (QD – SBG)  (ii) Contracting & Trading Qatar 21.5% 21.5%

Al Damaan Islamic  

Insurance Company 
Islamic Insurance Qatar 20% 20%

Bait Al Mashura Financial 

Consulting Company 
Consultancy services Qatar 20% 20%

1515 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Land

QR’000

Buildings

QR’000

2013

Total

QR’000

2012

Total

QR’000

At 1 January (Reclassified –  

Note 50 (ii) (d)) 6,394,866 6,020,449 12,415,315 10,646,352
Relating to acquisition of 

subsidiaries (Note 4)
- - - 2,550,542

Additions during the year 15,286 20,830 36,116 12,524

Transfers from advances for projects 

and investments (Note 12 (v)) 211,802 - 211,802 -
Transfers from trading properties - 

available for sale - - - 900,952
Transfer from trading properties - 

properties under development (Note 14) - - - 207,398
Transfers to non-current assets 

held for sale (viii) and (Note 11) (2,333,732) (955,790) (3,289,522) (401,927)
Transfers from property,  

plant and equipment (Note 19) - - - 90,455

Government grant received (vii) - (346,800) (346,800) -

On disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) - - - (593,162)

Net fair value gain 465,473 253,001 718,474 433,111
Plot of land swapped on 

acquisition of subsidiary - - - (1,454,137)
Exchange adjustment 4,233 8,631 12,864 23,207

At 31 December 4,757,928 5,000,321 9,758,249 12,415,315

Notes:
(i)	 Investment properties are located in the State of Qatar, Republic of Cyprus and United Kingdom. 
(ii)	 Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on valuation performed by  
	 accredited independent valuers as at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012. Those valuers are an 		
	 accredited independent valuers with a recognised and relevant professional qualifications and with recent 		
	 experience in the location and category of those investment properties being valued. In arriving at estimated 		
	 market values the valuers have used their market knowledge and professional judgement and not only 		
	 relied on historical transactional comparable. In the absence of current prices in an active market, the 		
	 valuations are based on the aggregate of the estimated cash flows expected to be received from renting the 		
	 property. A yield that reflects the specific risks inherent in the net cash flows is applied to the net annual 		
	 cash flows to arrive at the property valuation. 
(iii)	 The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations 	
	 to either purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs, maintenance and enhancements.
(iv)	 Fair value hierarchy disclosures for investment properties have been provided in Note 47.
(v)	 Capitalised finance cost is calculated based on the actual qualifying expenditures related to the projects 		
	 under development, that is part of the investment properties. Finance cost is capitalized using the Group’s 		
	 weighted average finance costs.
(vi)	 Included in investment properties are certain properties with a fair value of QR 776,693 thousand at 31 		
	 December 2013 (31 December 2012: QR 2,641,827 thousand) for which the title deeds will be transferred 		
	 on completion of the construction of the projects or upon settlement of the full purchase price.  
	 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the beneficial interest of these 		
	 investment properties resides with the Group. 
(vii)	 During 2013, a subsidiary of the Group has received a capital government grant amounting to QR 346,800 		
	 thousand relating to infrastructure development costs incurred in prior years.
(viii)	 As at 31 December 2013, the Group has transferred investment properties amounting to QR 3,289,522 		
	 thousand to non-current assets held for sale (31 December 2012: 370,095 (net of impairment amounting to 		
	 QR 31,832 thousand)) (Note 11).
(ix)	 Description of valuation techniques used by one of the subsidiary of the Group and key inputs to valuation 		
	 on some of the investment properties are as follows:
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2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

(Restated)

Carrying amount of the investments 2,153,497 2,079,294

Group’s share of joint ventures’ revenues and results:

Revenues - -

Results (91) -

The joint ventures commitments for purchase of properties as at 31 December 2013 amounting to QR 358,082 thousand  
(2012: QR 495,702 thousand). The joint venture had no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2013 and 2012. 

During 2012, the Group and the joint venture partners transferred advances paid to the purchase of plot of land located 
in Lusail project in the State of Qatar to the joint venture. The amount was credited to partners current account in the 
financial statements of the joint venture as more explained in Note 50 (i) (b) to the consolidated financial statements. 

1818 MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
The financial information of Group’s subsidiaries that have more than 10% of non-controlling interests are provided below:
Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests are as follows:
Name of subsidiary

Country of 

incorporation

31 December 

2013

31 December

2012

Qatar Project Management Company Q.P.S.C. Qatar 30% 30%

Nuzul Qatar Company Limited W.L.L. Qatar 50% 50%

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Accumulated balances of material non-controlling interest:
Qatar Project Management Company Q.P.S.C. 36,347 29,843
Nuzul Qatar Company Limited W.L.L. 85,625 85,801

Profit/(loss) allocated to material non-controlling interest:

Qatar Project Management Company Q.P.S.C. 6,505 1,728

Nuzul Qatar Company Limited W.L.L. (176) (7,838)

The summarised financial information of these subsidiaries are provided below. This information is based on amounts 
before inter-company eliminations.

Qatar Project 

Management 

Company 

Q.P.S.C.

QR’000

Nuzul Qatar 

Company 

Limited 

W.L.L.

QR’000

Summarised statement of profit or loss for 2013:

Revenues and gains 204,285 6,294
Expenses and losses (183,352) (6,646)

Profit (loss) for the year 20,933 (352)

Total comprehensive income (loss) 21,682 (352)

Summarised statement of profit or loss for 2012:
Revenues and gains 213,562 32,022

Expenses and losses (207,920) (47,698)

Profit (loss) for the year 5,642 (15,676)

Total comprehensive income (loss) 5,759 (15,676)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s investment in associates:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

(Restated)

Group’s share of the associates’ statement of financial position:

 Total assets 1,075,608 8,644,947
 Total liabilities (575,044) (6,359,946)

Group share of net assets of associates 500,564 2,285,001

Carrying amount of the investments 500,564 2,285,001

Group’s share of associates’ revenues and results:
Revenues 265,090 527,502

Results 90,770 228,643

Notes:
(i)	 During 2012, the Group acquired the residual 50% shareholding interest in Asas Real Estate Company 		
	 W.L.L. (“ASAS”) under the share purchase agreement concluded with the previous shareholder on  
	 4 January 2012 and became a subsidiary of the Group (Note 4.2). 
(ii)	 During 2013, the Group has transferred certain investments in associates amounted to QR 1,717,090 		
	 thousand to non-current assets held for sale and as of 30 December 2013, the investments in an associate 		
	 sold a related party and accordingly it was derecognised (31 December 2012: Nil) (Note 11).
(iii)	 Based on an impairment testing carried out by the management, the entire investment value of Panceltica 		
	 Holding Limited amounting to QR 200,935 thousand was impaired during prior years. During 2012 the  
	 management also decided to partially impair its investment in Smeet Investment Company W.L.L. 			 
	 amounting to QR 25,200 thousand due to unfavourable financial indications of the associate (Note 39).
(iv)	 The associates had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 31 December 2012 or 2013.
(v)	 During 2011, Barwa Bank Q.S.C announced a rights issue of 57.18% of its share capital and the Group 		
	 subscribed for the total entitled shares amounting to QR 651,946 thousand by obtaining the funds needed 		
	 from a related party. The agreement with the related party to arrange for subscription in the rights issue 		
	 stipulates that the new shares acquired from the rights issue will be held by the Group as nominee for and 		
	 on behalf of the related party. Accordingly the ownership interest in Barwa Bank Q.S.C by the Group was 		
	 diluted from 37.37% to 23.76%. As per the agreement with the related party, the Group has a right to 		
	 exercise the “call option” arising from the above transaction. During 2013, the Group exercised the Barwa 		
	 Bank Q.S.C. “call option” and increased its interest in Barwa Bank Q.S.C. to 37.37%. The Group has 		
	 transferred its additional investments in Barwa Bank Q.S.C. amounting to QR 730,941 thousand to  
	 non- current assets held for sale. The Group has recognized a fair value loss of QR 50 thousand during the year 	
	 ended 31 December 2013 (for the year ended 31 December 2012: gain of QR 21,469 thousand) on the call 		
	 option which is included in other income. 

1717 INVESTMENTS IN A JOINT VENTURE
The Group has a 50% share in Lusail Golf Development Company, a jointly controlled entity engaged in the business 
of real estate in the State of Qatar. The Group’s share in Lusail Golf Development Company is accounted for using the 
equity method in the consolidated financial statements. Summarised financial information of the joint venture, based on 
its IFRS financial statements, and reconciliation with the carrying amount of the investment in consolidated financial 
statements are set out below.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s interest in a joint venture:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

(Restated)

Group’s share of the joint ventures’ statement of financial position:

 Total assets 2,153,588 2,079,294

 Total liabilities (91) -

Group share of net assets of joint venture 2,153,497 2,079,294

16.	INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
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Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013:

Non-current assets 25,253 -
Current assets 206,444 419,360
Non-current liabilities (15,098) -
Current liabilities (95,441) (248,111)

Total equity 121,158 171,249

Attributable to:
Equity holders of parent 84,811 85,624

Non-controlling interest 36,347 85,625

Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 December 2012:

Non-current assets 1,437 -
Current assets 210,443 420,005

Non-current liabilities (10,979) -

Current liabilities (101,424) (248,404)

Total equity 99,477 171,601

Attributable to:

Equity holders of parent 69,634 85,800

Non-controlling interest 29,843 85,801

Summarised cash flow information for the year ended 31 December 2013:

Operating activities 20,371 (7,592)

Investing activities 14,476 -

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 34,847 (7,592)

Summarised cash flow information for the year ended 31 December 2012:

Operating activities 6,572 693

Investing activities (10,497) (756)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,925) (63)

18.	MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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2020 GOODWILL
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Cost
At 1 January 126,411 126,411

At 31 December 126,411 126,411

Impairment

At 1 January - -

At 31 December - -

Net book value

At 31 December 126,411 126,411

Impairment testing of goodwill 
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the below CGUs, which is also operating and 
reportable segments for impairment testing: 

•	 Real estate
Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the CGUs:

Real estate

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Goodwill 126,411 126,411

The Group performed its annual impairment test as at 31 December 2013 and 2012. To assess whether goodwill is impaired, 
the carrying amount of the real estate CGU is compared to its recoverable amount determined on a value in use basis.

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations
The recoverable amount of the Real estate CGU has been determined based on a value in use calculation using free cash 
flow to equity projections from financial budgets approved by senior management covering a five-year period. The cash 
flows have been discounted by a cost of equity of 12.0%, All cash flows beyond the five year period have an assumed 
growth rate of 3.5% for the CGU for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing; this is to take into consideration 
the fact that many of the projects of the CGU start generating returns only towards the end of the projected period. 
The strategic business plan assumes certain economic conditions and business performance, which are considered 
appropriate as they are consistent with current market expectations of the future. The resultant valuation from this 
method equates to an implied price to earnings multiple of 9.9X which is significantly lower than the last traded 
multiple of the CGU at the time of acquisition (13.7x). As a result of this analysis, no impairment allowance recognised 
against goodwill as at 31 December 2012 and 2013.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Management considered alternative methods including comparable valuations using market multiples. Under these 
scenarios the recoverable amount of the CGU would continue to exceed its carrying value. The benchmarks of the CGU 
were updated to reflect the return variability projected by senior management in the five-year period.

2121 INCOME TAX
The income tax represents amounts recognised by subsidiary companies. The major components of the income tax 
expense for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 are:

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Current income tax

Current income tax charge (5,935) (5,192)

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 82 -

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (5,853) (5,192)

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Income tax expense resulted from continuing operations (5,853) (5,298)

Income tax attributable to discontinued operations (Note 10) - 106

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (5,853) (5,192)

The Company is not subject to income tax in the State of Qatar. For the purpose of determining the taxable results for 
the year, the accounting profit of the companies were adjusted for tax purposes. Adjustments for tax purposes include 
items relating to both income and expense. The adjustments are based on the current understanding of the existing 
laws, regulations and practices of each subsidiaries jurisdiction. In view of the operations of the Group being subject to 
various tax jurisdictions and regulations, it is not practical to provide a detailed reconciliation between accounting and 
taxable profits together with the details of the effective tax rates. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that future taxable profits will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Deferred tax assets 783 113

Deferred tax liabilities (793) (205)

(10) (92)

2222 PAYABLES AND OTHER LIABILITIES
Payables and other liabilities are segregated between non-current and current portion as follows:

2013 Non-current Current Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Subcontractors and suppliers - 649,753 649,753

Clients advances and unearned income (Note 23) - 161,650 161,650

Retention payable 77,582 93,733 171,315

Contribution to social and sports fund (Note 43) - 42,650 42,650
Accrued expenses 26,449 163,869 190,318
Accrued finance cost - 115,608 115,608
Employees end of services benefits (Note 24) 52,103 - 52,103
Provisions for litigations (Note 44) - 145,661 145,661
Other payables 677,053 210,582 887,635

833,187 1,583,506 2,416,693

2012 Non-current Current Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Subcontractors and suppliers - 1,344,980 1,344,980

Clients advances and unearned income (Note 23) - 90,136 90,136

Retention payable 64,547 193,270 257,817

Contribution to social and sports fund (Note 43) - 72,816 72,816

Accrued expenses - 130,001 130,001

Accrued finance cost - 109,483 109,483

Employees end of services benefits (Note 24) 43,122 - 43,122

Provisions for litigations (Note 44) - 112,887 112,887

Other payables 676,100 192,992 869,092

783,769 2,246,565 3,030,334
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2323 CLIENTS ADVANCES AND UNEARNED INCOME
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

At 31 December 161,650 90,136

This includes an amount of QR 148,426 thousand (2012: QR 85,794 thousand) received as advance against the 
properties leased out.

2424 EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS
Movements in the provision recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

At 1 January 43,122 31,343
Provided during the year 18,312 18,135

End of service benefits paid (9,050) (6,356)

Transferred to liabilities of subsidiaries classified as held for sale (281) -

At 31 December 52,103 43,122

The pension scheme for Qatari employees is a defined contribution pension plan and pension obligations are payable on 
demand to a Government pension fund. Accordingly, the amounts payable have been disclosed as a current liability.

2525 OBLIGATIONS UNDER ISLAMIC FINANCE CONTRACTS
2013 2012

 Maturity QR’000 QR’000

Parent company:

Loan 1 February 2016 10,906,037 10,906,037

Loan 2 January 2016 7,087,610 7,087,610

Loan 3 December 2015 1,000,275 1,000,275

Loan 4 February 2016 962,084 962,084
Loan 5 August 2021 728,300 -
Loan 6 June 2014 695,527 695,527
Loan 7 March 2014 653,317 637,263
Loan 8 July 2014 637,263 -

Loan 9 December 2015 596,607 596,607

Loan 10 January 2017 500,000 500,000
Loan 11 June 2017 500,000 500,000
Loan 12 December 2015 444,282 444,282
Loan 13 February 2014 276,229 397,612
Loan 14 January 2016 100,141 100,141

Subsidiary company:
Loan 15 February 2016 1,707,149 1,717,551
Loan 16 February 2016 355,046 355,046

Loan 17 (i) August 2016 337,977 460,877

Loan 18 February 2016 300,247 300,247

27,788,091 26,661,159

Presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Non-current portion 25,376,845 24,962,704
Current portion 2,411,246 1,698,455

27,788,091 26,661,159

Note:
(i)	 The above facilities have been obtained for the purpose of finance long term projects and working capital 		
	 requirements of the Group. The facilities carry profits at commercial rates. There were no any securities 		
	 pledged against any of above loans at 31 December 2013, except for the non-recourse loan 17 above which is 		
	 more explained in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

2626 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
The Group uses currency forward contracts and Islamic profit rate swap contracts to manage some of the currency 
transaction exposure, market exposure and profit rate exposure. These contracts are not designated as cash flow,  
fair value or net investment hedges and are accounted for as derivative financial instruments.

The Parent had entered into certain derivative profit rate swap agreements with banks to hedge its profit rate risks on 
certain financing. However, due to early settlement of financing, the hedging relationship was terminated and therefore 
currently these derivatives are carried under trading book. During the year 2013, the financing and the related profit 
rate swap agreement were fully settled.

Notional amounts

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Currency forward contracts 2,652,438 2,497,560

Profit rate swaps - 5,826,400

2,652,438 8,323,960

Fair values

2013 2012

Positive Negative Positive Negative

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Currency forward contracts 2,988 - 11,747 -

Profit rate swaps - - - 153,875

2,988 - 11,747 153,875

Presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Positive fair value of derivative financial instruments 2,988 11,747
Negative fair value of derivative financial instruments - (153,875)

Positive (negative) fair value of derivative financial instruments 2,988 (142,128)

Derivatives designated for cash flow hedges
One of the subsidiaries of the Group entered into Islamic profit rate swap agreements with several financial institutions 
to limit its exposure to profit rate fluctuations on its Sukuk Al Musharakah United States Dollars (USD) 270 million 
(QR: 983 million) (31 December 2012: USD 270 million (QR 983 million)) and Sukuk Al Mudarabah USD 300 million 
(QR: 1,092 million) (31 December 2012: USD 300 million (QR 1,092 million)). Whereby the Group receives variable 
profit rate and pays fixed profit rate at commercial rate on the fixed notional amounts stipulated in the profit rate swap 
agreements. Profits are settled under the agreements on a quarterly basis. The swaps were initially designated to hedge 
the exposure to the fluctuations on the variable portion (LIBOR) of the profit rates on 50% of the above mentioned 
financing. The financing and related profit swaps have the critical terms. 

The fair values of the profit rate swaps designated for cash flow hedges are calculated by reference to the market valuation 
of the swap agreements, and the cash flows hedge effectiveness is tested at the end of each reporting date.

The profit rate swaps are settled on a quarterly basis. The profit rate swaps are designated as effective cash flow hedges. 
The profit rate swap and the profit rate payments on the financings occurs simultaneously. 

As at 31 December 2012 and 2013 cash flow hedge reserve is nil as all the hedging relationship and the related 
derivatives were closed out during 2012.
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3434 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
Disposal of subsidiaries in 2013
During the year 2013, the Group disposed off its ownership in Barwa Egypt Group and accordingly lost the control.  
The list of subsidiaries disposed are as follows:

Name of the subsidiary
Disposed 

ownership %
Sold to a

Barwa Egypt Real Estate S.A.E 100% Related Party

Barwa New Cairo for Real Estate Development S.A.E 100% Related Party

Barwa Egypt for Real Estate Development S.A.E 100% Related Party
Tarek Fouad Sayed El Shazly and Partners 100% Related Party

The carrying value of assets and liabilities of the above subsidiaries as at the date of disposal were as follows:
Carrying 

values

 on disposal

QR’000

Assets
Cash and bank balances 4,625
Receivables and prepayments 793
Property, plant and equipment 2,025
Deferred tax assets 18
Property under development 5,615,563

5,623,024
Liabilities
Employee retirement benefit obligations 641
Payables and accruals 9,835

10,476

Net assets disposed 5,612,548
Translation reserve transferred from other comprehensive income 264,136
Profit on disposal 232,327

Consideration on disposal of subsidiaries 6,109,011

The proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries were as follows:
Carrying 

values

 on disposal

QR’000

Net cash disposed with the subsidiaries  (4,625)
Cash received on disposal 477,557

Net cash received on disposal of subsidiaries 472,932

Disposal of subsidiaries during 2012
During the year 2012, the Group disposed the following subsidiaries and accordingly lost the control over these subsidiaries.

Name of the subsidiary
Disposed 

ownership %
Sold to a

Barwa Al-Khour Company W.L.L. 100% Related party
Barwa Luxembourg S.A.R.L 100% Third party
Marafeq Qatar Company W.L.L. 74% Related party

2727 SHARE CAPITAL
2013 2012

No of shares No of shares

(Thousands) (Thousands)

Authorised shares:

Ordinary shares of QR 10 each 389,134 389,134

Ordinary shares issued and fully paid up:

At 1 January 2012 389,125 3,891,246

At 31 December 2012 389,125 3,891,246

At 31 December 2013 389,125 3,891,246

All shares have equal rights except for one preferred share which is held by Qatari Diar Real Estate Investment 
Company Q.S.C. that carries preferred rights over financial and operating policies of the Company.

2828 TREASURY SHARES
Treasury shares represent the value of shares owned by the Group subsidiaries in the Parent at the end of the reporting year.

2929 LEGAL RESERVE
In accordance with the requirements of the Qatar Commercial Companies Law No. 5 of 2002 and the Parent’s Articles 
of Association, an amount equal to 10% of the profit for the year should be transferred to a legal reserve each year 
until this reserve is equal to 50% of the paid up share capital. The reserve is not available for distribution except in the 
circumstances stipulated in the above law and the Parent’s Articles of Association.

3030 GENERAL RESERVE
In accordance with the Parent’s Articles of Association, the premium on issue of share capital is added to general 
reserve. In addition, residual annual profits, after the required transfer to legal reserve (Note 29), can be appropriated 
and transferred to general reserve based on the general assembly meeting’s approval.

3131 OTHER RESERVES
a)	 Fair value reserve
	 The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial 		
	 assets and effective portion of qualifying cash flow hedges.
b)	 Translation reserve
	 The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial 		
	 statements of foreign operations, as well as from the translation of assets and liabilities that form part of 		
	 Company’s net investment in foreign operations.

3232 INCOME FROM CONSULTANCY AND OTHER RELATED SERVICES
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Consultancy and other related services revenues 292,564 365,173

The revenues from consulting services represent project consulting revenues recognized by the Group’s subsidiaries 
provided to external parties.

3333 PROFIT ON SALE OF PROPERTIES
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Sale proceeds 375,000 2,907,201
Cost of sales (374,046) (2,622,414)
 
 Profit 954 284,787
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2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Facility management expense 17,915 14,166

Property management expense - 9,005

Other expenses 43,540 50,180

437,368 404,011

3737 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000
Staff costs 245,708 232,068
Social contributions 52,670 47,341
Professional fee expenses 40,568 51,612
Utilities expenses 16,288 22,552
Advertising and promotion expenses 11,395 12,339
Board of Directors remuneration (i) 6,400 14,000
Board of Directors remuneration for 2011 (i) - 12,820
Repair and maintenance expense 6,565 4,220

Travel expenses 3,552 2,896

Rent expenses 2,636 17,304

Government fees 2,037 1,816

Other expenses 7,762 12,153

395,581 431,121

Note:
(i)	 The Directors’ remuneration for the year 2013 represents a proposed amount of QR 6,400 thousand 		
	 subject to the approval of the company’s Annual General Assembly that will be held on 8 April 2014 	(2012: 		
	 QR 14,500 thousand, the shareholders of the Company approved at the Annual General Meeting 			 
	 held on 2 April 2013 Directors’ remuneration amounting to QR 3,500 thousand). Up to the year ended  
	 31 December 2010, the Directors’ remuneration was appropriated through equity and starting year ended  
	 31 December 2012 the Directors remuneration is charged to consolidated statements of profit or loss. 

3838 NET FINANCE COST
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000
Finance costs
Finance costs 892,264 1,841,483
Less: capitalized finance costs (Note 14) (105,999) (1,051,333)

Finance costs charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss 786,265 790,150
Losses from derivative financial instruments 108,643 (1,021)

Finance costs for the year 894,908 789,129

Finance income

Income from Murabaha and Islamic deposits (9,274) (173,949)

Finance lease income (336,777) (396,726)

Net foreign exchange gain on financing activities (107,100) (16,927)

Finance income for the year (453,151) (587,602)
 
 Net finance costs for the year 441,757 201,527

The carrying value of assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries as at the date of disposal was as follows:
Carrying 

values

 on disposal

QR’000

Assets

Cash and bank balances 37,438

Receivables and prepayments 72,810

Due from related parties 78,585
Deferred tax assets 78,348

Property, plant and equipment (Note 19) 296

Properties under development (Note 14) 13,206,195
Investment properties (Note 15) 593,162

14,066,834
Liabilities

Obligations under Islamic finance contract 888,625

Due to related parties 23,210

Payables and accruals 109,605
1,021,440

Net assets disposed 13,045,394
Non-controlling interest (2,998)
Profit on disposal 189,639

Consideration on disposal of subsidiaries 13,232,035

Analysis of cash flow on disposal
Net cash disposed with the subsidiaries (37,438)
Cash received on disposal 31,000

(6,438)

3535 OTHER INCOME
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000
Reversal of impairment allowances/provisions (i) 275,673 69,175
Other operating income 87,050 81,355

Dividend income 10,104 4,463

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 9,141 42
Unrealized gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,073 2,567
Gain on sale of available-for-sale financial assets 1,795 7,102
Fair value gain on call option (Note 16) - 21,469

Miscellaneous income 20,800 33,170

406,636 219,343

Note:
(i)	 During the current year the Group reversed previously recorded allowance for impairment amounting to  
	 QR 265,173 thousand (31 December 2012: Nil). 

3636 OPERATING EXPENSES
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Staff costs 161,266 117,194

Hotel operation costs 94,207 101,029
Rent expenses 65,130 84,384
Repair and maintenance expense 55,310 28,053
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2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000
Available-for-sale financial assets:
Gain arising during the year 5,505 26,885
Transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on disposal of  

available-for-sale financial assets (1,238) 9,133

4,267 36,018

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 289,896 (251,452)

4242 DIVIDENDS
Dividends paid and proposed

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Declared, accrued and paid during the year: Final dividend for the year 2012,  

QR 1.5 per share (2012 : final dividend for the year 2011, QR 1 per share) 583,687  389,125

Proposed for approval at Annual General Assembly Meeting (not recognised as a 

liability as at 31 December): QR 2 per share (2012 : QR 1 per share)  778,250  389,125

The shareholders of the Company approved at the Annual General Meeting held on 2 April 2013 a cash dividend of  
QR 1.5 per share total amounting to QR 583,687 thousand (2012: the shareholders of the Company approved at the 
Annual General Meeting held on 21 March 2012 a cash dividend of QR 1 per share total amounting to QR 389,125). 

The proposed dividend issue will be submitted for formal approval at the Annual General Assembly Meeting that  
will be held on 8 April 2014.

4343 CONTRIBUTION TO SOCIAL AND SPORTS FUND
According to Qatari Law No. 13 of 2008 and the related clarifications issued in January 2010, the Group is required to 
contribute 2.5% of its consolidated annual net profits to the state social and sports fund. The clarification relating to 
Law No. 13 requires the payable amount to be recognised as a distribution of income. Hence, this is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
 
During the year, the Group appropriated an amount of QR 34,252 thousand (2012: QR 28,918 thousand) representing 
2.5% of the consolidated net profit for the year.

4444 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group had the following contingent liabilities from which it is anticipated that no material liabilities will arise.

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

 Bank guarantees  72,029  70,890
   
 Letters of credit  -  400,000

Litigations and claims
Various legal cases were filed against the Group as of 31 December 2013. According to the Group’s Legal Counsel best 
estimates, no material liabilities will arise as a result of these cases and accordingly no provisions have been provided 
against these cases, except for what have been provide for in the consolidated financial statements.
 
A legal case has been filed against the Group for which an arbitration decision was issued against the Group to pay 
an amount of USD 31 million (QR 113 million). The amount has been provided in full in the prior year consolidated 
financial statements.
 
A legal case has been filed against one of the subsidiary of the Group by a third party for claiming the management  
fees for which the legal proceedings are in progress as at the reporting date. The Group has provided USD 9 million  
(QR 33 million) in the current year consolidated financial statements against such claims.

3939 NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000
Impairment losses / (reversals) on:

Trading properties – properties under development (Note 14) 57,337 87,000

Due from related parties 19,035 -
Receivables and prepayments 15,626 8,818
Non-current assets held for sale (Note 11) 8,824 31,832

Advances for projects and investments (Note 12) 1,837 -

Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 13) 875 67,217

Trading properties – properties under development (Note 14) - (4,288)

Trading properties – properties available for sale - 10,703

Property, plant and equipment (Note 19) - (28,833)
Investment in associates- Smeet Investment Co. W.L.L. (Note 16) - 25,200

103,534 197,649

4040 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

There were no potentially diluted shares outstanding at any time during the year and, therefore, the diluted earnings  
per share is equal to the basic earnings per share.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:
2013 2012

 Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent from continuing operations  

(in 000 QR)
1,571,858 1,158,139

 Net loss attributable to equity holders of the parent from discontinued operations  

(in 000 QR) (196,871) (20,764)

 

 Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for basic earnings (in 000 QR) 1,374,987 1,137,375

 Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (in thousand shares) 389,125 389,125

 Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR) 3.53 2.92

4141 COMPONENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Cash flow hedges:

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to consolidated  

statement of profit or loss
- 14,220

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges - 3,345

 

- 17,565

Translation reserves:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 21,493 (305,035)

Exchange differences transferred on disposal of subsidiaries 264,136 -

285,629 (305,035)
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At the reporting date the profit rate profile of the Group’s profit bearing financial instruments was:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Floating profit rate instruments:   
Financial liabilities  (28,062,616)  (27,088,685)

  
 (28,062,616)  (27,088,685)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of consolidated statement of profit or loss to reasonably possible 
changes in profit rates by 25 basis points, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity of the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in profit rates for one year, based on the floating rate 
financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December. The effect of decreases in profit rates is expected to be  
equal and opposite to the effect of the increases shown.

Profit or loss

+25b.p

QR’000

At 31 December 2013 (70,157)

At 31 December 2012 (67,722)

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates 
primarily to the Group’s operating activities and the Group’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries.

The Group had the following significant net exposure denominated in foreign currencies:
Carring amounts

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Assets 

(Liabilities)

Assets 

(Liabilities)
Euro 2,801,880 2,688,313
KWD 447,088 490,144
GBP 365,239 356,287
EGP 5,419 5,740,829

USD (26,028,894) (25,214,212)

The USD denominated balances are not considered to represent a significant currency risk as QR is pegged to USD. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of consolidated statement of profit or loss and equity for a reasonably 
possible change in the following currencies against Qatari Riyal, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s 
profit due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities and the Group’s equity on account of translation 
of foreign operations. The effect of decreases in foreign exchange rates is expected to be equal and opposite to the effect 
of the increases shown:

Effect on profit or loss

2013

+10%

QR’000

2012

+10%

QR’000

Euro 266,287 255,536

GBP 3,232 157
EGP 23 31

Effect on equity statement

2013

+10%

QR’000

2012

+10%

QR’000

Euro 13,901 13,295

GBP 33,292 35,472

EGP 519 574,052
KWD 44,709 49,014

4545 COMMITMENTS
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Contractual commitments to contractors and suppliers for  

properties under development  2,248,854  2,353,371
   
Commitments for operating leases (i)  329,457  326,552
   

Commitments for purchase of investments  270,959  273,851

Note:
(i)	 Commitments for operating leases are further analysed as follows:

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

 Less than one year  68,825  68,854
 Between 1 and 5 years  137,200  144,316
 More than 5 years  123,432  113,382
   
 Total operating lease expenditure contracted for at 31 December  329,457  326,552

4646 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
Objectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise payables and other liabilities, due to related 
parties, liabilities of subsidiaries directly associated with the assets classified as held for sale, obligations under Islamic 
finance contracts and liabilities for purchase of a land. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for 
the Group’s operations. The Group has various financial assets such as cash and bank balances, receivables, finance lease 
receivables, due from related parties, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, assets of a subsidiary held for sale 
and available-for-sale financial assets and non-current assets held for sale which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, primarily Currency forward contracts and profit rate swaps 
contracts. The purpose is to manage the currency risks, market risk and profit rate risk arising from the Group’s 
operations and its sources of finance. 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, 
real estate risk and other risks . The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these  
risks which are summarised below:

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as profit rates, foreign currency exchange rates and equity 
prices will affect the Group’s profit, equity or value of its holding of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control the market risk exposure within acceptable parameters, while optimizing return.

Profit rate risk
The Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are subject to profit rate risk comprise bank deposits, finance lease 
receivables, Islamic financing facility extended to a third party group of companies and obligations under Islamic 
finance contracts. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market profit rates relates primarily to the Group’s 
financial assets and liabilities with floating profit rates. 

The Group manages its profit rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable profit rate obligations 
under Islamic finance contracts. To manage this, the Group enters into profit rate swaps, in which the Group agrees to 
exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate profit amounts calculated by reference 
to an agreed upon notional amount. The swaps are designated to hedge underlying debt obligations. At 31 December 
2013, after taking into the effect of profit rate swaps, approximately 4% of the Group’s obligations under Islamic finance 
contracts are at a fixed rate of profit (2012: 5%). 
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Carrying amounts

2012
Domestic

Other GCC 

countries

European 

countries
North Africa Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000
Bank balances  

(excluding cash)
596,629 5,087 63,016 275 665,007

Receivables 427,149 13,992 38,318 35,460 514,919
Finance lease receivables 2,792,229 - - - 2,792,229
Due from related parties 2,666,999 57,292 - - 2,724,291

Non-current assets held for sale 373,856 - - - 373,856

Assets of subsidiaries 

classified as held for sale - - - 5,782,872 5,782,872

6,856,862 76,371 101,334 5,818,607 12,853,174

The Group monitors its exposure to credit risk on an on-going basis and based on the management’s assessment 
and historic default rates, the Group believes that impairment allowance of QR 56,693 thousand (2012: QR 48,743 
thousand) is sufficient against financial assets as at the reporting date. Financial assets include certain balances that are 
overdue but in management’s view are not impaired as at the reporting date.

The Group reduces the exposure of credit risk arising from bank balances by maintaining bank accounts in reputed 
banks, 93% of bank balances represents balances maintained with local banks in Qatar with a proper rating. Credit risk 
arising from derivative financial instruments is at any time, limited to those with positive fair values, as recorded on the 
consolidated statement of financial position. With gross settled derivatives, the Group is also exposed to settlement risk.

As at 31 December 2013, 81% (2012: 81%) of the total finance lease receivables balance is due from a single customer 
which is a Government related entity.

Assets of subsidiaries classified as held for sale at 31 December 2013 relates to a subsidiary company which is under 
voluntary liquidation. As at 31 December 2013, the liquidation is in progress and all assets are carried at the lower of 
their recoverable amounts and their carrying values and liabilities that may be expected are provided for, on which the 
Group is not exposed to settlement risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 
its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of Groups 
own reserves and bank facilities. The Group’s terms of revenue require amounts to be paid within 30 days from  
the invoiced date.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s undiscounted financial liabilities at 31 December based 
on contractual payment dates and current market profit rates:

2013
Carrying 

amounts

Contractual 

cash out 

flows

Less than 1 

year
1 – 2 years

2 – 5

years
More than 

5 years

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Payables and other liabilities 1,526,840 1,526,840 1,421,852 - 104,988 -

Due to related parties 385,276 430,041 407,689 - - 22,352

Liabilities of a subsidiary classified as held for sale 612 612 612 - - -

Obligations under Islamic finance contracts 27,788,091 29,648,669 3,257,816 3,038,298 23,038,955 313,600

Liabilities under derivative  

financial instruments - - - - - -

29,700,819 31,606,162 5,087,969 3,038,298 23,143,943 335,952

Equity price risk
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of consolidated statement of profit or loss and the fair value reserve to 
reasonably possible changes in quoted equity share prices, with all other variables held constant. The effect of decreases 
in equity prices is expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of the increases shown.

Changes in 

market indices

Effect on profit

QR’000

Effect on equity

QR’000

2013
Available for sale financial assets – Quoted +10% - 10,694

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss +15% 1,316 -

2012
Available for sale financial assets – Quoted +10% - 13,862
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss +15% 1,006 -

The Group also has unquoted investments carried at cost where the impact of changes in equity prices will only be 
reflected when the investment is sold or deemed to be impaired and when the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
will be impacted.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 
party to incur a financial loss. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is as indicated by the carrying amount of its assets 
which consist principally of bank balances, receivables, finance lease receivables, due from related parties, assets of a 
subsidiary classified as held for sale and positive fair value of derivatives. 

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from 
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments are as follows:

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Bank balances (excluding cash) 954,984 665,007
Receivables 777,317 514,919
Finance lease receivables 2,508,058 2,792,229
Due from related parties 2,880,482 2,724,291
Non-current asset held for sale 4,344,252 373,856
Assets of a subsidiaries classified as held for sale 1,868 5,782,872

11,466,961 12,853,174

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date by geographic region was as follows:
Carrying amounts

2013
Domestic

Other GCC 

countries

European 

countries
North Africa Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000
Bank balances  

(excluding cash) 894,882 8,242 51,748 112 954,984

Receivables 513,319 195,427 31,134 37,437 777,317

Finance lease receivables 2,508,058 - - - 2,508,058
Due from related parties 2,818,489 61,993 - - 2,880,482

Non-current assets held for sale 4,023,867 135,938 105,097 79,350 4,344,252

Assets of a subsidiary 

classified as held for sale 1,868 - - - 1,868

10,760,483 401,600 187,979 116,899 11,466,961

46.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
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to sustain future development of the business. Capital consists of share capital, treasury shares, other reserves, general 
reserve and retained earnings of the Group. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group 
defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity. The Board of Directors also monitors the level of 
dividends to the shareholders.

The Group’s main objectives when managing capital are:
•	 to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for 		
	 shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; 

•	 to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level 		
	 of risk; and

•	 to remain within the Group’s quantitative banking covenants and maintain good risk grade.

Further, the Board seeks to maintain a balance between higher targeted returns that might be possible with higher levels 
of financing, and the advantages and security afforded by the strong capital position of the Group. 

The Group’s net debt to equity ratio at the reporting date was as follows:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

Profit bearing debts  29,062,616  27,942,675

Less: cash and bank balances  (955,336)  (665,514)
  

Net debt  28,107,280  27,277,161
Total equity (excluding legal reserve)  12,968,832  11,953,091

  
Net debt to equity ratio at 31 December  217%  228%

On the other hand, the Board reviews regularly the borrowing to value ratio, which is calculated as the amount of 
outstanding debt divided by the valuation of investment property portfolio. The Group’s policy is to keep average 
borrowing to value at a low risk ratio.

4747 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Fair values
Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities that are carried in the consolidated financial statements:

Carrying amounts Fair values

2013 2012 2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Financial assets
Bank balances (excluding cash) 954,984 665,007 954,984 665,007
Receivables 777,317 515,419 777,317 515,419
Finance lease receivables 2,508,058 2,792,229 2,508,058 2,792,229
Due from related parties 2,880,482 2,724,291 2,880,482 2,724,291
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 8,776 6,704 8,776 6,704
Assets of a subsidiaries classified 

as held for sale 1,868 5,782,872 1,868 5,782,872
Non-current assets classified as 

held for sale 4,344,252 373,856 4,344,252 373,856

Available-for-sale financial assets 208,005 366,406 208,005 366,406

Financial liabilities

Payables and other liabilities (1,526,840) (2,220,976) (1,526,840) (2,220,976)
Due to related parties (385,276) (7,091,839) (385,276) (7,091,839)
Liabilities of subsidiaries classified 

as held for sale (612) (11,540) (612) (11,540)
Obligations under Islamic  

finance contracts (27,788,091) (26,661,159) (27,788,091) (26,661,159)
Liabilities under derivative 

financial instruments - (142,128) - (142,128)

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be 

2012
Carrying 

amounts

Contractual 

cash out flows

Less than 1 

year
1 – 2 years

2 – 5

years
More than 5 

years

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Payables and other liabilities 2,220,976 2,220,976 2,156,429 - 64,547 -

Due to related parties 7,091,839 7,118,309 76,698 - - 7,041,611

Liabilities of a subsidiary classified  

as held for sale 11,540 11,540 11,540 - - -

Obligations under Islamic  

finance contracts 26,661,159 29,173,528 2,458,923 1,030,140 25,684,465 -

Liabilities under derivative  

financial instruments 142,128 142,128 142,128 - - -

36,127,642 38,666,481 4,845,718 1,030,140 25,749,012 7,041,611

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s 
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than market, credit and liquidity 
risks such as those arising from generally accepted standards of corporate behavior. Operational risks arise from all of 
the Group’s operations.

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the 
Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned 
to senior management within each department. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Group 
standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:
•	 requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions.
•	 requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions.
•	 compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements and documentation of controls and procedures.
•	 requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and 			
	 procedures to address the risks identified.

•	 requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action.
•	 development of contingency plans.
•	 training and professional development.
•	 ethical and business standards.
•	 risk mitigation, including insurance of property and against embezzlement, where this is effective.

Real estate risk
The Group has identified the following risks associated with the real estate portfolio:
•	 The cost of the development schemes may increase if there are delays in the planning process. The Group 		
	 uses its subsidiaries in the development of most of its projects, which employs experts in the specific planning 		
	 requirements in the scheme’s location in order to reduce the risks that may arise in the planning process, and 		
	 utilizes the accumulated experience in contracting for the purpose of reducing development costs as compared 		
	 to the relevant market.

•	 A major tenant may become insolvent causing a significant loss of rental income and a reduction in the value 		
	 of the associated property (see also credit risk). To reduce this risk, the Group reviews the financial status of all  
	 prospective major tenants and decides on the appropriate level of security required via rental deposits or guarantees.

•	 The exposure of the fair values of the portfolio to market and occupier fundamentals.

Other risks
Other risks to which the Group is exposed are regulatory risk, legal risk, and reputational risk. Regulatory risk is 
controlled through a framework of compliance policies and procedures. Legal risk is managed through the effective use 
of internal and external legal advisors. Reputational risk is controlled through the regular examination of issues that are 
considered to have reputational repercussions for the Group, with guidelines and policies being issued as appropriate.

Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 

46.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
Equity price risk (continued)
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Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities as at 31 December 2013 are as follows:
Fair value measurement using

Date of 

valuation
Total

Quoted

prices in

active

markets

Level 1

Significant

observable

inputs

Level 2

Significant

unobservable

inputs

Level 3

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000
Liabilities measured  

at fair value:
Derivative financial 

instruments (Note 47):
Interest rate swaps - - - - -
Foreign exchange  

forward contracts - - - - -

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair 
value measurements.
Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 31 December 2012 and are as follows:

Fair value measurement using

Date of 

valuation
Total

Quoted

prices in

active

markets

Level 1

Significant

observable

inputs

Level 2

Significant

unobservable

inputs

Level 3

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000
Assets measured  

at fair value:

Investment properties (Note 15): 31 Dec 2012 12,415,315 - - 12,415,315

Available-for-sale financial 

assets (Note 13):
Quoted equity shares 31 Dec 2012 138,619 138,619 - -
Unquoted equity shares 31 Dec 2012 227,787 - - 227,787

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss (Note 9):

Quoted equity shares 31 Dec 2012 6,704 6,704 - -

Derivative financial 

instruments
Call option contracts 31 Dec 2012 21,469 - - 21,469

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair 
value measurements.
Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities as at 31 December 2012 and are as follows:

Fair value measurement using

Date of 

valuation
Total

Quoted

prices in

active

markets

Level 1

Significant

observable

inputs

Level 2

Significant

unobservable

inputs

Level 3

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000
Liabilities measured at fair value:
Derivative financial 

instruments (Note 47):
Profit rate swaps 31 Dec 2012 (153,875) - - (153,875)

Foreign exchange forward contracts 31 Dec 2012 11,747 - - 11,747

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair 
value measurements.

exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.  
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values.
•	 Bank balances, receivables, due from related parties, assets classified as held for sale, payables and other 		
	 liabilities, due to related parties and liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 			 
	 approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

•	 Finance lease receivables are evaluated by the Group based on parameters such as profit rates and individual 		
	 creditworthiness of the customer and the risk characteristics of the financed project. Based on this evaluation, 		
	 allowances are taken to account for the expected losses of these finance lease receivables. At the end of the 		
	 reporting period, the carrying amounts of such finance lease receivables, net of allowances, approximate  
	 their fair values.

•	 The fair value of the quoted available-for-sale financial assets is derived from quoted market prices in active markets.
•	 The fair value of unquoted financial assets are estimated using a DCF model. The valuation requires 			 
	 management to make certain assumptions about the model inputs, including forecast cash flows, the discount 		
	 rate, credit risk and volatility. The probabilities of the various estimates within the range can be reasonably 		
	 assessed and are used in management’s estimate of fair value for these unquoted financial assets.

•	 The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, principally financial 		
	 institutions with investment grade credit ratings. Derivatives are valued using valuation techniques with market 	
	 observable inputs are mainly profit rate swaps, options contracts and currency swaps. The most frequently 		
	 applied valuation techniques include option pricing and swap models using present value calculations.  
	 The models incorporate various inputs including the credit quality of counter parties, foreign exchange  
	 spot and forward rates and profit rate curves.

•	 Fair values of the Group’s obligations under Islamic finance contracts are determined by using DCF method 		
	 using discount rate that reflects the borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting period. The own  
	 non-performance risk as at 31 December 2013 was assessed to be insignificant.

Fair value measurement
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liabilities.

Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 31 December 2013 are as follows:
Fair value measurement using

Date of 

valuation
Total

Quoted

prices in

active

markets

Level 1

Significant

observable

inputs

Level 2

Significant

unobservable

inputs

Level 3

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000
Assets measured  

at fair value:

Investment properties (Note 15): 31 Dec 2013 9,758,249 - - 9,758,249

Available-for-sale financial 

assets (Note 13):

Quoted equity shares 31 Dec 2013 106,938 106,938 - -

Unquoted equity shares 31 Dec 2013 101,067 - - 101,067

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss (Note 9):
Quoted equity shares 31 Dec 2013 8,776 8,776 - -

Derivative financial 

instruments
Foreign exchange  

forward contracts 31 Dec 2013 2,988 - - 2,988
Call option contracts - - - - -

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair 
value measurements.

47.	FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued) 
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Fair value of unquoted equity and debt investments
If the market for a financial asset is not active or not available, the Group establishes fair value by using valuation 
techniques which include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are 
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific 
circumstances. This valuation requires the Group to make estimates about expected future cash flows and discount rates 
that are subject to uncertainty.

Estimation of net realizable value for trading properties
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV).

NRV for completed trading properties are assessed with reference to market conditions and prices existing at the reporting 
date and is determined by the Group having taken suitable external advice and in the light of recent market transactions.

Valuation of property 
Investment properties are stated at fair value. The Group used external, independent evaluators to determine the fair 
value of the investment properties. The independent evaluator uses the market situations, estimated yield and expected 
future cash flows and the recent real estate transactions with similar characteristics and location of properties for the 
valuation of investment properties.

If an independent valuation is carried out at the intermediate period, the management determines the year end valuation 
by applying appropriate discounting rate on the intermediate valuation based on the market situations, estimated yield and 
expected future cash flows. Thus the management believes it’s a more transparent and accurate valuation.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment for calculating 
depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset, physical wear and tear, 
technical and commercial obsolescence.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. 
Goodwill embedded in the cost of acquisition of subsidiaries and associates and other indefinite life intangibles,  
if any, are tested for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators exist. Other non-financial assets are 
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When value in use 
calculations are undertaken, management estimates the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash generating 
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

The estimates used by management in testing impairment of the goodwill resulting from business combinations are as follows:

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations:
The calculation of value in use for cash generating units relating to real estate projects are most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Gross margin
Gross margins are based on average values achieved in the period preceding the start of the budget period. These are 
increased over the budget period for anticipated efficiency improvements.

Discount rates
Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each cash generating unit, regarding the 
time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets which have not been incorporated in the cash flow 
estimates. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its operating segments 
and derived from its weighted average cost of capital (WACC). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity.  
The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment by the Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based 
on the profit bearing Islamic financing, the Group is obliged to service. Segment-specific risk is incorporated by applying 
individual beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available marked data.

Growth rate 
Growth rate is used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgment is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits 
together with future tax planning strategies.

4848 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Judgements other than estimates
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Revenue recognition
When a contract for the sale of a property upon completion of construction is judged to be a construction contract, 
revenue is recognised using the percentage of completion method as construction progresses. The percentage of 
completion is made by reference to the stage of completion of projects and contracts determined based on the 
proportion of contract costs incurred to date and the estimated costs to complete.

Classification of property
The Group determines whether a property is classified as investment property or trading property:
•	 Investment property comprises land and buildings (principally residential, commercial and retail property) 		
	 which are not occupied substantially for use by, or in the operations of, the Group, nor for sale in the ordinary 		
	 course of business, but are held primarily to earn rental income and capital appreciation.

•	 Trading property comprises property that is held for sale in the ordinary course of business. Principally, this is residential 	
	 and commercial properties that the Group develops and intends to sell before or on completion of construction.

Operating lease contracts – the Group as lessor
The Group in its normal course of rental activities, enters into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. 
The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these property and so accounts for the leases as operating leases.

Impairment of receivables and prepayments
An estimate of the collectible amount of tenants and other receivables, and due from related parties is made when 
collection of the full amount is no longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed  
on an individual basis.

Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively based on the 
provisioning policy applied by the Group, and a provision is applied according to the length of time past due,  
based on historical recovery rates.

At the reporting date, there were no allowances for impairment of due from related parties as the Group does not 
have collection concern with regards to its receivables from its related parties. The overdue and doubtful amounts for 
collection as the end of the reporting period relating to trade receivables are disclosed in Note 6.

Classification of investment securities
On acquisition of an investment security, the Group decides whether it should be classified as “investments at fair value 
through profit or loss” or “available-for-sale”. The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying its investments. 
The Group classifies investments as “at fair value through profit or loss” if they are acquired primarily for the purpose 
of short term profit making and cash generation. All other investments are classified as “available-for-sale”. The Group 
accounts for investments in equity securities as investment in associates only when significant influence over the 
investee’s operations can be proved to exercise, else and regardless of the ownership share, the investment is classified  
as available-for-sale.

Estimation uncertainty
Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets
The Group treats available-for-sale financial assets as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline 
in fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is 
“significant” or “prolonged” requires considerable judgment. The Group treats “significant” generally as 20% or more 
and ‘prolonged’ greater than six (6) months. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, including normal volatility 
in share price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted equities, if any.
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4949 SEGMENT INFORMATION 
The Group has three reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic divisions. The strategic 
divisions offer different businesses and are managed separately because they require different expertise. For each of  
the strategic divisions, the Group’s top management (the chief operating decision maker) reviews internal management 
reports on a regular basis. The real estate segment develops, sells and lease condominiums, villas and plots of land. 
Business services segment provides business support services and financial institution and other services comprise 
financial and other institutions. 

The operating segments are monitored and strategic decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment operating 
results, which are considered as a measure of the individual segment’s profit and losses.

Operating segments
The operating segments are presented as follows;
For the year ended 31 

December 2013

Real

estate
Business 

services

Financial 

institution and 

other services

Eliminations Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000
Revenues and gains
External parties
Rental income 996,026 - 3,147 - 999,173
Income from consultancy 

and other related services 115,166 177,219 179 - 292,564
Profit on sale of properties 954 - - - 954
Profit on disposal  

of subsidiaries 232,327 - - - 232,327
Profit on disposal  

of an associate 336,548 - - - 336,548
Net fair value gain on 

investment properties 715,489 - 2,985 - 718,474
Share of results of 

associates and joint venture 89,910 - 769 - 90,679

Other income 405,754 829 53 - 406,636

Internal segments 319,743 102,190 -  (421,933) (i)  -

Total revenues and gains 3,211,917 280,238 7,133  (421,933) 3,077,355

Profit (loss) for the year 1,584,992 42,806 (3,181)  (254,536) 1,370,081

Net finance (cost) income (473,418) 1,050 (132) 30,743 (441,757)

Depreciation (91,348) (1,872) (316) - (93,536)

For the year ended 31 

December 2012
Real

estate

Business 

services

Financial 

institution and 

other services

Eliminations Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Revenues and gains

External parties

Rental income 739,511 - 1,134 - 740,645

Income from consultancy 

and other related services 199,035 164,286 1,852 - 365,173

Profit on sale of properties 284,787 - - - 284,787

Profit on disposal  

of subsidiaries 189,639 - - - 189,639
Profit on disposal  

of an associate - - - - -
Net fair value gain on 

investment properties 437,716 - (4,605) - 433,111
Share of results of associates 

and joint venture 229,998 - (1,355) - 228,643

For the year ended 31 

December 2012
Real

estate

Business 

services

Financial 

institution and 

other services

Eliminations Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Other income 217,610 1,421 312 - 219,343

Internal segments 6,026,354 109,733 - (6,136,087) (i) -

Total revenues and gains 8,324,650 275,440 (2,662) (6,136,087) 2,461,341

Profit (loss) for the year 6,401,191 10,891 (22,895) (5,266,229) 1,122,958

Net finance (cost) income (474,447) 1,762 1,724 269,434 (201,527)

Depreciation (61,867) (15,457) (2,740) - (80,064)

Note:
(i)	 Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation level. 
The following table presents segment assets and liabilities of the Group’s operating segments as at 31 December 2013 and 2012.
At 31 December 2013

Real

estate

Business 

services

Financial 

institution and 

other services

Eliminations Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000
Current assets 29,007,970 220,007 39,395 - 29,267,372

Non-current assets 16,024,684 71,351 108,776 (570,108) 15,634,703

Total assets 45,032,654 291,358 148,171 (570,108) 44,902,075

Current liabilities (4,308,819) (75,073) (1,797) - (4,385,689)
Non-current liabilities (26,063,084) (60,858) (149,451) 67,617 (26,205,776)

Total liabilities (30,371,903) (135,931) (151,248) 67,617 (30,591,465)

Investment in associates and 

interest in a joint venture 2,639,683 - 14,378 - 2,654,061

Capital expenditures 1,571,242 (i) - - - 1,571,242

At 31 December 2012 
Real

estate

Business 

services

Financial 

institution and 

other services

Eliminations Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000
Current assets 29,163,406 212,250 35,068 (87,207) 29,323,517
Non-current assets 21,247,733 48,000 106,513 (519,986) 20,882,260

Total assets 50,411,139 260,250 141,581 (607,193) 50,205,777

Current liabilities (4,066,751) (79,388) (2,776) - (4,148,915)
Non-current liabilities (32,705,257) (65,269) (140,568) 122,804 (32,788,290)

Total liabilities (36,772,008) (144,657) (143,344) 122,804 (36,937,205)

Investment in associates and 

interest in a joint venture 4,357,366 - 13,340 (6,411) 4,364,295

Capital expenditures 4,586,842 (i) - - - 4,586,842

Note:
 (i)	 Capital expenditure consists of additions to trading properties, investment properties and property, 			 
	 plant and equipment and assets from business combinations. 
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The effect of the restatement on these consolidated financial statements is summarised below:
Effect on

31 December 

2012
QR’000

Net decrease in advances for projects and investments (2,074,294)

Net increase in investment in joint venture 2,074,294

(ii)	 Reclassification 
Corresponding figures for 2012 have been reclassified in order to conform with the presentation for the current year. 
Such reclassifications have been made by the Group to improve the quality of information presented and did not have 
any impact on the previously reported equity, profits and earnings per share.

a)	 Investments in associates and investments in a joint venture:

	 As at 31 December 2013, the Group reclassified the investments in associate and investments in a joint 		
	 venture. The reclassifications made affected the following previously reported figures:

Investments in 

associate

Investments in 

a joint venture

QR’000 QR’000

As previously reported 2,323,755 -

Restatement – Note (i) (a) (33,754) -

Restatement – Note (i) (b) - 2,074,294
Transferred from investments in associate to investments in a joint venture (5,000) 5,000

As reclassified 2,285,001 2,079,294

b)	 During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group reclassified below expenses and income.  
	 The reclassifications have been made by the Group to improve the quality of information presented and did not 	
	 have any impact on the previously reported equity, profits and earnings per share. The reclassifications made 		
	 affected the following previously reported figures:

Operating 

expenses

General and 

administrative 

expenses

Depreciation Other income Net finance costs

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000
As previously reported (372,076) (465,189) (78,022) 221,212 (201,492)

Rent expenses (31,935) 31,935 - - -
Transferred from (to) 

discontinued operation - 2,133 (2,042) (1,869) (35)

As reclassified (404,011) (431,121) (80,064) 219,343 (201,527)

c)	 The Group reclassified one of its subsidiary’s investment properties at 31 December 2012, amounting to 	
	 QR 16,594 thousand to property, plant and equipment as portion of one property is used by the subsidiary 	
	 for administrative purposes as of that date.

5151 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Subsequent to the reporting date the Group received an advance of QR 744,000 thousand against the disposal of one of 
its investment property located in Lusail, State of Qatar that is expected to take place in 2014.

Geographic segments
Revenues and gains from external customers:

2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

State of Qatar 2,690,995 2,327,814
Other GCC countries 303,507 86,143
European countries 32,411 (10,591)
North Africa 50,442 57,975

Total revenue per consolidated statement of profit or loss 3,077,355 2,461,341

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.

The geographical segments of non-current assets are as follows:
2013 2012

QR’000 QR’000

State of Qatar 15,223,616 20,253,781
European countries 307,092 377,091
Other GCC countries 103,941 170,676
North Africa 54 80,712

15,634,703 20,882,260

Non-current assets for this purpose consist of property, plant and equipment, investment properties, deferred tax assets 
and intangible assets. 

5050 COMPARATIVE INFORMATION
(i)	 Restatements 
The opening balances for the year 2013 and the comparative figures have been restated due to the followings:
(a)	 The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 have been restated to account 		
	 for the share of results, share of other comprehensive income and carrying value of one of the investments 		
	 in an associate as per their audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012. The effect of 		
	 the restatement on those financial statements is summarised below:

Effect on

31 December 

2012

QR’000
Net decrease in investments in associates (33,754)

Net decrease in retained earnings (33,754)

The above restatement resulted the change in basic and diluted earnings per share as follows:

Effect on

31 December 

2012

QR per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share, as previously reported 3.01

Effect of restatement (i) (a) above (0.09)

Basic and diluted earnings per share, as restated 2.92

(b)	 On 10 January 2012, the Group and the other parties signed an agreement to transfer the advances paid 		
	 for purchase of properties to the joint venture. During prior years the advances paid for the land was classified  
	 as advances for projects and investments. Accordingly the consolidated financial statements of the 			 
	 comparative period was restated to record the transfer of advances to the Joint Venture. 

49.	SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 
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